
~ _ -., __ --__ l..,._ ... __ 
...... ~ .... -

" 

I N D E x. 

The Accused IRhIA GRESE. Recalled • . 
Cr09S -eXlliJined by OOL. BACKHOUSE 
Rc-eXc'1.minccl by M,AJOR CRANFIELD 

L'SG;,r, ARGUiVIENTS ON /illlHSSIBILITY OP , jIF5'IDi\.vITS. ••• • •• 

smJiMING UP ON LEGllli /JtGUEENTS. • •• " • • • • . .. ... 

• " e · .. 
t •• 

• • 0 

1i,L'.I.JOB, CR.' .. NFIELD I S OPENING SPEECH ONBEIL''J.,F OF THE ~\CCUSED I. LOTHE. 

The Accusqd ILSE LarHE~ 

AFFID.A. VIT OF REGINli,; BIl;LEK.. 

Exanined by IvL'WOR CRl~IELD : 
Cross-exau ined by C}.PT. PHILLIPS 
Cross-exa.uned by LT. BOYD. 
Cross"cX!l..lined by CAPT. IV11JNRO 
Oross-cxm-ili.ncd by C0L .. BACKHOUSE 
Re- exaEuncd by lIL1.JOR CRA.NFIELD 

•• • . .. . . . ••• 

-----~---------- T 

... 
• 00 

'0 e o· · . ~ 
• e " 

• • 0 I 

.. " ' / 

~age. 

, 

2. 
19. 

20. 

260 

280 

29. 
33. 
33. 
34~ 

3L, " 
41. 

42 .. 

www.bergenbelsen.co.uk



.. ' I ' 

• ~ ~ , ~ r • . 

I .~ • • . 

P ROCEEDINGS 

of' a 

~TARY COURT FOR THE 

TRIAL OF W.AR CRn,uNiILS 

held a t 

on 

- VlEDNESDl,.Y, 17 OCTOBER 1945 , 

. upon the trial of 

JOSEF 'KRl1},ffiR 

and 

41+ Others* 

l' WEN T Y - S EVE ]\I l' H D .cl.. Y. 

Transcript of thc Offici a l 

Shorthand Not(.; ;:; . 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

1. 

www.bergenbelsen.co.uk



, ' .... .... -. 

(At 0930 hours the Court reassembles pursuant 
to adjournment , the same President, Members 
and Judge Advocate being pr~ent). 

(The accused are again brought before the Court). 

;./'~- .. -
/" ..... 

THE 1?RESIDENT : Colonel Ba ckhous e , I think you were going to put in some 
document. 

COLONEL BACKHOUSE : I have both the cODlffientary , of the film which was read, the 
cOIrrl1entary in English, and I also ha vc the Genuan translation here. I 
think they ,rere going to be put in a s one Exhibit. 

THE PRESIDENT : Yes. 

COLONEL BACKHOUSE: Copies have been supplied to the Defence. 

(English a nd · German versions of cominentary on film are 
toge ther marked Exhibit "125", signed by the President 
and a ttached to the proceedings) 5 

THE ACCUSED, lEMA GRESE, is r ecalled on her 
fonner oa th and Gross-examined by COLONEL 
BAClQiOUSE as follows: 

Q You told us yesterday about how you went to your e lementary s chool a nd 
then you went farming, and then you wcnt to this hosp:i, tal , at Hohenluchen ? 
A Not quite . 

Q Well, did you go to the hospita l a t Hohenluchen ? A Yes. 

Q And you wa ntcd to 3tay there and '00 a nurse there, did you not ? 
A I wanted to go to Schwerin b ecause there in Hohenluchen I could not 
have become a nurse, so therefore I wanted to go to Schvrerin. 

Q Hohenluchen was run by the S. S., was it not? A When I was there it was 
a sports sanitori~ La t er on it became S. S. 

Q When did you go there ? A 1939 to 1941 . 

Q Af'ter you l eft ther e you ''vent to work in this butter shop a nd then you went 
to Ravensbruck ? A Yes . 

Q Woo t were you paid Et t the butter shop ? A 40 to 60 marks uer month. 

Q What did you get a t Ravensbruck ? A 54 marks per month. 

q Why did you ge t so much l e ss than thc others ? A Because: was only 18. 

Q Tell me a little about Ravensbruck. Is i t right to say thaJ thc treatrilent 
there ViaS very s evere? A Yes . 

Q In fact is Ehlert r ight when she says it ViaS t erribly terrib:y severe? 
A Yes. 

Q Are thos e two wi tnesscs for the defence who were called righ:; when they say 
that a ll the aufseherin there , with 'the exception of the gen-.;le Ehlert , 
were regularly beating prisoners ? A I do not lcnow. 

Q There was a lot of beating there, ", illS t her e not ? A I :Jad a konunando 
of 20 prisoners and I Vlcnt out to work with them, and I never b eat a nyb0c1y. 

Q Th.a. t was not what I a sked you at a ll. 
prisoners there , wa s there not ? 

2. 

There was a lot of beating of 
A I did not see it. 
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Q An S. S. woman -who did ,not behave badly to the prisoners was punished or 
moved, was she not ? A I do not k.llOW • 

. Q And it was the end of',your training at Ravensbruck, your period at Ravensbruck, 
that you went home and saw your f a ther, ' was it not? -A Yes . 

Q And you told your father what you had been doing at Ravensbruck, did you 
not ? A Yes. 

Q And did you quarrel with him ? A Yes. 

Q Did ho turn you out of the house? A Yes. 

Q When you came to Auschwitz you told us that your first, job was a telephone 
orderly ? A Yes. 

Q But even 'when you were a telephone qrderly you had to take your turn, aid you 
not, on IDoking after the prisoners in the morntng before they went out and 
in the evening 'when they came back? A Yos . 

Q And even then you had to attend appels, did you not? A No. 

Q Was there not an appel before the working partj:es went out ? 
A At the begi,nning, yes, later, no. 

Q Now I ,mnt to ask you about when you were in charge of a strafekoiiliiando. 
A Yes. 

Q The first thing I want to put to you is this, that you vverc in charge of a 
straf'ekomnk'ul.d.o 01,.lt of the camp for a gr eat deal longer than you have tolc]. 
us in Court ? A No. 

Q You know Kopper quite well, do you not? A Yes. 

Q She was at Rav:ensbruck when you wore there, was she not ? 
know. 

A I do not 

Q And she was at Auschwitz for a long time vvith you, was she not? 
A Not with me. 

Q Well, she vm.s at Auschvdtz whilst you were there for a long time, was shu 
not ? A Yes . 

Q And she 'was a t Bels en all the time you 'were at Belsen, was she not? 
A Yes . 

Q She would hardly mistake you for somebody e lse, ' v/Quld she? 
know. 

A , I do not 

Q I sugges t to you th~t you have not told us the truth about tl1is, and that 
you were in charge of a s tra:fekommando employed on w,)rking a. t a sand pit? 
A I was never in charge of a strafclcoIWlando working at a. sand pit. 

Q Wcll, lest wc are quarrelling about words, perhaps you wore not in cnar¥e, 
but you were actua.lly with a.nd guarding and supervising a kamma.ndo working 

Q 

a t a sand pit? A I explained a lrca.dy yes terday toot. I was in 
cha.rge during two days of a strafekommando and toot was a. punishment for 
myself, a strafek.ormnndo which wn.s working 'in bringing in stones from 
outsi,ie the camp. 

I know Yvhat you told us yesterday. 
t ell us the tnuth yesterday. A 
a nd tha t is wm t I have been doing. 

You see] I am suggesting you did not 
I h:.'we sworn I shall tell the truth 

Q There was a graa t deal of sa ndbJX>ught into the camp too for the roads, 
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was there not ? .J.\. I do not know. 

Q Well, you were with the ' korill:18.ndo tInt wa s building the roads, S0 why do 
you not 1010W '1 A Yes, they "vvcre building roads, but they did not 
bring sa nd in. 

Q Was t here not a lot of concrete used in that camp ? A I do not 1010w. 

Q Had not the roads ,got a cement surfa c e ? 
that. 

A I was not interested in 

Q Well interest yourself now. ' You were in charge of the party mald..ng them. 
Were the roa ds no t in f a ct given D.. cer,1ent surface? A I do not knowe 

Q Do you not know woo t the prisoners were doing when you were in cljarge of 
the kOl11l~ndo ? A They were putting stones into the ground; they 
were bam.nering· it in for the purpos e of roa d making. 

Q Is your story that you ' never saw the sand pit a t all ? 
rGi.'iler.mer. 

Q You cannot rer,lcmber, now? ' A I have never s een it. 

A I ca nnot 
/ 

Q vVby did you say you could not r cmeuber a moment ago? A I thought you 
;,leant to b ring in the sand frol'!l outside , not the sand pit, itself, but the 
proce ss of bringing the sand froD outside into the camp. 

Q Caru.1ot you r cr.leooer whether you saw the sand brougll'G in ? 
r eme.I'lber. 

A I cannot 

Q I suggest to you that Yfhen you ,..,rerc working a t the sand pit there was a 
wire round it .. vith guards round i t a t intervals? A It is poss ible, 
but I do not 1010W it. 

Q And that you used to.muuse yourself by s ending vroDen outside thc wire so 
th£:l t t hey ·would. be shot by the guard ? A No. 

Q Do you reneI.iber giving evidence a t a n enquiry against a guard? A I do 
not lr..now. ' I 

Q Do you r Gi.:aemb er at any time gi vin..:; evidence at an enquiry against 'a guard ? 
A 'No. 

Q I suggest to you th..a.t you [!Jlve evidencc a t a n enquiry against a guard who 
, had refused to shoot p eople cros s ing the wire on the ground that you had 
sent ther.l over deliber a tely? A You can think wl;at you like, but it 
is a lie and it it ,vrong. 

Q Do you r er;lcr.ilier a I>if?lI:.solleZ\.:o.icila.!ed Anna Guterweiss ? A No. 

, Q I suggest to you she is onc of the ViODen t hat you sent through the wire 
in tha t vvay ? , A No. 

Q Do you r0~cruber a prisoner called Cawina stasika ? A No. 

Q Or Karola Mikot ? A No. 

Q 

Q 

Q 

I suggest to you that both ·those 'WDI::l.Cn v{ere in the s arac kommando as well 
I 

a s the a ccUs6d Kopper ? A Why should it not be ? 

And too ttha t is the kor.'U'JD.ndo vIDich was vforking illlde:..r your direction in 
the sand pit? A No. 

Tell r.le about this gardening koLlr!1ando th::l. t you say you were in charge of. 
Where did i t work ? A In the garden. 

4. 
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Q Where YIDS the garden ? 
belonging t o the S.S. 

A In Ausch'witz No. 1, but they were gardens 

Q Ho...-, far froLl Berkenau ? A Three-quarters of an hour walidng. 

Q Did you go on a . bicycle and the prisoners vmlk ? A No. 

Q Let us take it by stages. Did the prisoners ymlk ? A Yes. 

Q You had a bicycle at Berkenau, did you not ? A Yes. 

Q Did you not ride it ? A It was prohibited to use the bicycle for 
outside working parties. 

Q Did you not have a dog t o gULlrd those kOrJf.1.D.ndos ? A No. 

Q Why not? A I do not lrn.OYf. 

Q That is what the dogs Ylere thore for, was it not? 
were trained a nd had their 8,1.lards. 

A Not for De. They 

Q They we~ trained to guard thesy kOL1i~1andos going out of the caJ.ap, were 
they not ? A Yes. 

Q Why were you not allowed one ? A I did not vIDnt to have a dog because 
I was not professionally a n aufsehorin and if I had had a dog it would 
,have tied r.le dovm to that particular type of job~:. 

Q But you were a n aufscherin, were you not ? i'I. Yes. 

Q And you were sent out with this outside working party, were you not ? 
A Yes. 

Q Then why did you not have a dog ? A I did not want to have one. 

Q Could you- just please yourself vlhat you did in -this CaJ.'.1p ? A No. 

Q Let l:le put it to you that in f a ct you had a dog viith you a nd when you were 
narching the party aloIlG the doS used to round up the stragglers. 
A I should lrn.ow better whether I had a dog or not. 

Q Did you t ake your komma ndo perioclically to pick herbs for the kitche n ? 
A Yes,' when there were some herbs they picked theTa. 

QYou have heard r ead the affidavit of Triszynska, page 163. Was she in 
your kol.'il8ando ? A I do not know. I had only Russians in Dy 
kor;u'.lancl0. 

Q Well, a s she is a Russ ian perhaps" she YIDS in your kor;u:18.ndo t.hen ? 
A Possibly. 

Q In fact she says she wus a TJ.elilber of your ko:mr,1ando for about five weekse 
,A I do not know. 

Q She says: "Often we had to r.larch about 15 kr.1. to a place where we had to 
pick herbs- for the ldtchen". Is that ri3ht ? A No. 

Q At least, it is true they had to lnareh, you say, for about three-quarters 
of an hour t o pick herbs for the kitchen, is it not? A I do not lmow. 

Q You jus t told us so, you know. 'I aJ.!l only rcpea t:Lng what you said a few 
Llooent ago yourself. A I said that we were T,1El-rching for three-quarters 
of an hour to do gardening work, but not to pick herbs for the kitchen-
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Q Where did you go to pick herbs for the kitchen? 
such km~_~l1do pickins herbs for the kitchen. 

A I do not know arv 

Q I confess I find you difficult to undcrstand. A few moments a~o you said 
that your kOIJrnanc1o (lid pick herbs for the kitchen when there were herbs. 
Is that true or not? 

TRE INTERPRETER: I an sorry, it is i::y mistake. Shc said she was picking 
grass in the carden, but not hcrbn for the kitchen. It Dust have been my 
Llistake. 

OOLONEL BAOKHOUSE: Do you mean getting wecds up ? 

THE INTERPRETER: Xes. 

OOLONEL BAOKHOUSE:(To the witness): GcttinG nettles up ? A Yes, when it 
was necessary to tidy up the garden and tQ pick up weeds , they did. 

Q Did you have any kitchen garden or vegetable garden for the cm.~ ? 
A Not for the C8.lilp. 

Q Did you have it for the S.S. ? A There were several kitchen gardens 
or vegetable gardens for the S.S. 

Q And did your komoando look af.ter theEl ? 11. Yes. · 

Q And if herbs were required, did they pick thm~ ? A What sort of herbs ? 

Q Did they pick any herbs a t all? A No. 

Q Then why -.'lOrry to ask L18 what sort of herbs ? A In the garden there 
vrere no herbs. There are either veget ables or weeds, but no herbs. 

Q As you vVBnt , did you not go on your bicycle with this konoando and also 
ha ve a dog with you ,vhen you werc with this kor:nuando ? A No. 

Q Did you carry a stick ? A 1'fo. 

Q Wba t did you carry ? A Nothing. 
, 

Q Why did you not carry a s tick on this occasion ? ~\. It was not necessary. 

Q I suggest to you t~t you used your stick to good purpose? 
say I never had a stick with the exception of Oaop "0". 

Q I put it to you that you injured several Y{OfLlen with that stick ? 
A No. 

A And I 

Q Did women sometioes have to be carried back to the caop by- other women ? 
A On thc contrary Dy wo!.len, · those women v{orkinG in that kOfJl:Jando, were ' 
very strong; they were Russians, a nd therc Vias no need at all to carry 
theEl back into the caLlp. 

Q Why, ,vas that s ometirnes n ecessary ;vi th other WODen ? A I never saw it. 

Q You were a sked y esterday about 1180 Lothe ? A Yes. 

Q I suggest to you again that she was a kapo ? A I do not know. 

Q And that she worked under you a s a kapo ? A Never. 

Q Ancl that on a n occasion when Lothe complained about Rosenwayg - volume 10, 
page 17 of the transcript - that you aat(:your dog on to the wor.1an Rozenwayg ? 

6. 
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A As I ha d no dog I could not set it upon Rozenwayg. 

Q You r (Deriber Rozenvmyg giving her evidence ih Court here, do you not ? 
A Yes, 

Q Do you remer.J.ber the aff i davit of Watinik. ? A Yes. 

Q She says: "l saw In.m Gres e set her dog on r.1Y friend Rozenwaygll. 
A She r.1Ust have bad sor.1e instructions fror.1 Rozenwayg to say so. 

Q "l s avv the dog bite Ha nka in the shoulder". A She night have seen 
that happen, a do g b ite her shoulder, but I never had a dog and I never 
set a dog upon anybody. 

Q I suggest this to you, t hat ·when you vrent out with these outside working 
pa.rties you Dacle a habit of' bea tin;,:; woraen and of kicking theLl, and you 
enjoyed it? A And I say thn. t you a r e badly infonl1ed about De 
and that it is a big lie . . 

Q When y ou vrere a little girl you wer e frightened to sta nd up f or yourself, ' 
wer e you not? Yoti ran away t o a voi d a fight. A I ca nnot rer.1ernber. 

Q Did you hear your sis t er s ay s o ye s t erday ? A Yes. 

Q Wha t I ar.l ~uggesting t o you is this , t hat you found it grea t fun to hit 
sOl'.1ebody who could not hit back ? A No. 

Q Do you r e;·.ler.lber the de:pos i tion of Gertrud Diru...l ent, whe r e she says: 
!Hur f avourite habit '1ms t o b ea t Woue n .until they f ell to the ground, a nd 
then kick then a s hard a s y-bu could with your heavy boots ? A Tha t is 
not true. Perhap s i t is her habit t o lie. 

Q You a f fected heavy t op boots, did you no t ? A Yes, I wore boots. 
I 

Q And you liked to limlk round vd th a r evolver s trap ped on your Yffi.is t and 
a whip in y our hand, did you not? A I did not like it. ' 

I 

Q You thought it was very clever t o have a whip r.mde i1+ the f a ctory, did you 
not ? A Yes. 

Q JJld even when the Co~.1D.ndant t ol d you to stop using it you went on, did you 
not? A Yes. 

Q Wha t Gertrud, Diaraent s a id abou t you \vas this: "Her f a vourite habit was to 
bea t thm until they f ell t o t he ground and then she kicked then a s hard 
a s she could with her heavy boots". I s tha t not true ? A No. 

Q Tell Ele a little bit L10r e about this whip. Wha t vV'as it r eally r.mde of ? 
A Cellophane pap er. 

Q How YI)a S it I:Jade up ? 
you can s ee through it. 
you wind it t oget her. 

A I t is this transluscent c ellophane pap er; 
I t i s of this l ength ( der.10ns tra ting) a nd then 

Q Do you Bean plaited a nd then bound ? A Just liB:e a pig-tail, in that 
Yffi.Y; like hair. 

Q Did you have a ntll;lber of then rJade ? A Ono. 

Q Wha"tever it was r.nde of it hurt if you used it, did it not? 
A Yes. 

Q Who ga VG you the i dea of having it Lude of c ellophane ? 

7. 
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there in this weaving f o.ctory they made all sorts of things and I had 
the idea to have Elac1e a Yihip out of · cellophane. 

Q What colour was it ? A It was transluooc:b.tlike white glass. 

Q Did it look like a riding whip ? A It was so long, and it had a 
swinging effect. (The w·i tness d8l!1ons tra tes). -

Q A type of switch you would use for a horse ? A yes. 

Q Then I,lost of these prisoners who said they saw you carrying a riding whip 
were not far "WrOng, were they ? A No, they were not wrong. 

Q They were cross-exa.L1inecl, a nd it was s uggested they were talking awful 
nonsense, but it YffiS right, was it not ? A My idea about a riding 
whip is quite c1ifferent. 

Q When did you have this whip liude 7 A From May to December, 194J+. 

Q That is when you were in lager "c" ? A Yes. 

Q Did the other aufs eherin have these whips r.nade t oo ? A No. 

Q It YffiS just your bright i dea 7 A Yes. 

Q Of course, in l o.ger "C" you use d to ca rry a walking stick too, did you 
not 7 A Yes. 

Q And you beat people s ometuaes with the whip and sometlines with the stick? 
A Yes. 

Q Were you a llowed to beat peopl e ? A No. 

Q So it Wo.s not a question of having orders fror,l your superiors to do it; 
you did this against orders, did you? A Yes. 

Q Pretty well e verybody in the camp did it, di el they not ? 
not know. 

A I do 

Q Was it just you who .vas vicious? 
being vicious. 

A I t has nothing to do with 

Q Were you the only person who beat the prisoners agains t the ree,ula tions ? 
A I do not know. 

Q Did you go abqut with your ey es shut 7 
my eyes always, open. 

. A On the contrary, I had 

Q Did you never s ee anyone els e beat prisoners ? A Yes. 

Q 'rhen vIDy keep saying 111 do not know" whon you are a skecl ·if they did ? 
A Maybe they got perhaps an order to beat; I ca nnot say; I ca nnot Imov •• 

Q That was not what you were asked. You knew quite well wi1.at you were 
as~ed. I ask ed you whether you say a nyone e lse beating prisoners in 
Auschwitz a nd you s a id; "l do not Imow". A No, you a sked me Wh8 "thoJ.: 
the others were beating in spite of contrary orders , in spite of being 
prohibited to beat. My a nsvrer Wc1.S , therefore , I do not know bocause I 
do not know whether El8.ybe they got a n order for tbD.t particular purpose. 

Q Did yo~ somet~nes get orders to boa t? A No. 

8. 
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Q Did you give orders to other aufseherin vrorking under yoP +:0 ;;oa t 

prisoners ? A Yes. 

Q Had you any right or authority t o dG that ? 

A I had the right and authority to sec that the camp for 'N::~ich I rm.E: 

responsible a nd of which I V'itl.S the leador~ should be put ir.. orde!'. 

Q Had you the rig,ht to authorise a1Jfseherin to beat people '? 

A No. 

Q You went to l ager "C" in May of 1944 ? 

A Yese 

Q Tl:k'1.,t is when the gassings of the Hungarians bogan, is it not '! 

A Yes. 

Q I think toot is the t:Ll1e when Hoossler told us that transports . v:e::,'o acT l"-!\u 

in day and nisht. 

A Yes. 

Is that not right ? 

Q And l ager "c" YJas whoc:,e tho Hungarians wcre put, is it no-: ? 

A Yes. 

Q Because you took care to have Csech ~poo; did you no ';; ? 

.A No. Those blockaltes t ers whioh I had in ca.:.lp "C" vrcre cetailaci. 

from Camp "A" a t Auschwitz a nd were sent to De for that Pu:L1loseo From 

camp trA" Berkenau th0Y were detn.iled t o d"', +;00 t :;!articular:Jobc 
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Q. They were Czechs~ were not they? J.... Yes~ 

Q. That was the practice at L.uschwi tz, was not it, to have thG altestors as 
far as possible of SO::-.le other country? A. No, it was nothing to do with 
that . , Thos e blockaltesters I had ii1 '-or CD.l71P they kne'w their jOf:;s from 
previous ,t:i:.les. The Hungari2l1s who a rrived they had no idea at 81.1 what 
to do. They arrived 1,000 per block and they would not he.ve 10l0wn how to 
organise the whole b lock. 

Q. Nobody could organise Cc b lock which W2.S r-1cant t o hold ' :'100~! or at the 
most 200, if you put 1,000 i nto it without beds, could they? A. This 
overcrowding wC.s only cJ.urine one or two weeks. 

Q. Why? ~ere they killed off pretty quickly? A. Those people who c~~e to 
me in Cnmp C were all strone people fi t for work t:.nd they went out on 
working partics. 

Q. You re~e:nlJer the selections that you used to 'attend? A. Yes . 

Q. It W2.S qui to sLlple to know whether or not the selection wo.s for the sas 
ch2...'nber, ... vas not it? A. No, ono could not know that . 

Q. Because only Jews had to attenc. the ones for the go.s che.nber, did not they? 
A. I myself I had only Jews in crurrp C. 

Q. Then they would all have to attend selections for the gas chru:\ber, would 
not they? h . Yes . 

Q. And you were told to wait for the do ctors, were not you? A. Yes . 

Q. Then you k.new perfectly well what it was for, diel not you? A. No . 

Q. And when these peOple were paraded they were very often paracJ.ed l~ed, 
were 110t they? L . Nearly always . 

Q. Al!d they were inspected like cdtle to see whether they were fit to work 
or fit to diG, were not they? A. Not like cattle. 

Q. And you were there keeping order, were not you? A. Yes. 

Q. If one ran away you brought her back, did not Y8U? A. Yes . 

Q. ~ And gave her 0. beatin~ for running away? A. Yes . 

Q. Just listen to the affidavit of Lebowits , pnge 92. "l have often soen 
the wo~en Grese with Dr. Meneele selecting people for the gas chasber 
and for forced work in Ger :·~. any . If the wOC":lan Grese so.W' 0. E'.other and 
daughter or sisters tryi~ to get t03:ether in selections for forced work in 
Ger:na.l1Y she would beat them until they were unconscious e.ncl leave the::n lying 
on the ground. 11 Is that true? A. It is true tha.t when they ro.n away I 
brought them back and I ~'.light have beaten then, but that is fantasy to sa.y 
I have beaten the."n till they I p.y on the Eround, or until they were bleeclinr:, 
or ' perhaps until they were dead. That is sheer fantasy • . 

Q. Were thero guards p r esBnt on these occasions? A. No . 

'Q. If people tried to esc ape a~d got ve ry far they were shot, were not they? 
I 

A. Never in the c rurrp. 

Q. You remember the witness IIom Stein, who gave evidence.in court? (Day q ~ . 
page 12) A. I do ri.ot know of the womo.n. 

Q. You remeraber that she said that prisoners who tried to escape if th~~' 
got far they were shot, if they did not they were brour;ht back, ternbJ.y 
beaten till they bled all over the p l ace &~d put back in tbeir Jjn~S 
again; is that true? A.;~ should one shoot people inside the ce~p; 
there is barbed. wire round the caD,)?, so they C8.rL."'1ot esoape. 

10. 
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Q. If you e.re s assingso:::.ebody it does not ,.,-Me very nuch difference if you 
shoot them or SD.S them, does it? A. I do not know. 

Q. You know Ilonc.. Stein vre.s asked to e;ive sone details about this sort of thing. 
Do you romc~bor what she said? In you rer:Jembor tellin~: the cQurt about 
a selection towards the end of Augus t? Was there an S. S. WO!!J.M called ' 
Dreschel there? A. Yes. 

Q. 'Nha t was her posi ti8n in the Car:1p? 
fuhrerin, lD.ter on oborD.ufseherin. 

A. At the beginning she was 8. ro.pport-

Q. And c..s r apportfuhrerin did she attend selections with Dr. Eengele? 
A. ?ossibly. 

Q. Did the c~p comme~dant sometL~es attend? A. Yes. 

Q. Was it genere.lly Dr. 1Iengele who you were wi th on these selections? 
A. I ,vas, only with Dr. Mengele . 

Q. Let ne renind you of what the witness Stein SD.id: thD.t you wore usually 
with Dr. Hengele , and then she spoke of this pD.rticular occasion when 
the com.'1'£'..nd~t , KrClLlcr, Dr. :k:engele, Dreschel and yourself were present , 
and that on that occasion so~e prisoners tried to hide. That has 
fu>_-;?poned before now, h[~s not it? A. That happei1ed before . 

q. You hD.ve seen prisoners trying to hide from these selections, h~'-Ve not you? 
A. Yes. 

Q. And you went to drae; them back to the parade very often, qid not you? A. Yes . 

Q. On this occasion I SUC2:est to you that you pointed them out to 8. guard and 
they were shot. A. No. 

Q. One killed and the other badly wounded. A. I do not know; I h£'..ve not seen it. 

Q. Do you re:ne;.ilier the occasion which was'reD.d to you yosterdny in Trieger's 
D.ffidD.vit ( page 160)? A. I rcmc ~ber. 

Q.' How she SD.id she 'NC:.S "18.de to s t 8.nd a t the doo r with her ar'!:':S outstretched to 
prevent ?eopl e runnil1[; out and escc..pins;? A. Yes, I know. 

~ . Do you renember her being "lD.do to s t 8.nd like that? li. . I ea n110t say whether 
her arms were stretched out, but I d.o know the blockal tester he,d the order 
to see that t hose who were s emt to ,t he left side s tDY cd there and c-:'id not try 
to Get over to the right . 

Q. Trieger was a blockaltester, was not she? A. No. 

Q. Wha t was she? A. I know all the blockC'~ test ers who were in .rw GG2ilP, I 
know the Christian m.',uE:s, and I had onc with Q CbristiD.n 11c."..!'r.e "Emth" , but 
it was not Edith .Tricger. 

Q. Your block e~testers vrere Czechs, were not they? A. Czechs and. Poles. 

Q; And T:deger, of course , is a Czec h, is not she? L . Yes . 

Q. Do you remember Trieger? A. No. 

Q. How do you know she is a Czech? A. DecD.use I hD.ve read it in the decl aration. 

Q. Who was , the Edi th that you had as a blockD~ -Cos ter. 

THE JUD2-E ADVOCATE: . Col . Baclehouse, SO::-.lO of us on the court ?J'8 gotting a 
little confuse,d . W,e have £'..11 affidavit for Katherinc Neiger. 

11. 
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COL. BACKHOUSE: 'I e:.-.l not talking n?out that onc. 

.~ 

---.. ... ---- " 
~J 

THE JUDGE ADVOCATE: That ' is the one I have Got down whore she was supposed to 
hold up her hands with stones in then. 

COL. Bll.CKI:IOUS~: 7[e ha.ve not been te.lking about tho.t at all. 

THE JUDGE JJ)VOCATE: Then we have ['.l1 affidavit of Edi th Tri 0ger. 

COL. BACKHOUSE: Yes. 

THE JUDGE ADVOCATE: Loo. accordiYl8 to ::ty hote there are two incidents. Whic h 
one are you talking ["bout for the !'1".o:nent? 

COL. BACIGIOUSE: I 3.111 talking ab::lUt the incident where she said she was ::'''.ade t o 
st and at the door and prevent WO:-,len fror.1 running out of the block . It is 
paragraph 4. That is the only one I have :)oen talking about up to now. 
(To the witness) I suggest to you that on an occasion when this girl 
Trieger was acting a~ your block.:,ltest er and was put at the door to prevent 
these people getting out two girls, or sone girls at any rate, Do.naged t o 

. Cet through and passed her hands . Did that sor:leti:-:1es ho.ppon? A. Yes . 

Q. And that you caught the ;T.ajol~ty of them yourself; is that right? 
A. No , because mostly I had no ti."le fo r that. iVY job was to wri to into my 

book how ::nany people were sent 2.way from ';flY camp. That was Iny proper job. 

Q,. You know, you h!.?-ve a lr eady told us 2.S a c;eneral proposition that when people 
tried to eSC8.pe you did go Md bring therl back and did beat them. W'r'..y do 
you jib at this one p£~rticular incident? .A . I do not speak: about thIs 
occasi::m. Of cours e when I saw that sor'lobody tried to escape or to hide 
of course it was :-:v duty, ['no. I did it , to try and bring hID back and giv e 
hL:t a i)eating; but that Trry job would have been to stand there and. watch, 
that is not true. 

Q. Nobody sUgGested it ,vas your jo;) to s t and there. That is the drawback 
when you have tble to read ·the middle . Did you in fact , when these girls 
escaped, go 2.n(1. drag them bD-ck? A. Yes. 

Q. I sugg est that you beat thEr.l with your hal1US and k icked them. 
them with my hands, but I never kicked them. 

il., I beat 

Q. Do you remember being on 0. selection on · . in CC1.1;rp A? 

Q. Do you know a Dr.' Enna? · .A. Yes . 

Q. Dd you know a blockaltester in cru-;r.p il. c o.l18d Rehr? 

Q. Do you reL_ember block 9 in c c_'1l}J A? L .• Yes. 

Q. I suggest to you that you 'lrere on a selection there. 
witness who stated that h8.s lied. 

ll. . Never • 

A. I do not know. 

A. I say that this 

Q. I a."'l. not the least interested in your QP~n~on of the witness. I wnnt to know 
if you were on a selection there . Jl. . No. 

Q. If there was 1:'_ solection dUl:'ing the dE:.Y any aufseherin l s who happened to be 
handy had to be called up, did not they? A. ' I do not know. 

0. Even Hessler hL~elf had to do it when there was no aufsherin available, did 
not he? A. Tlli~t is possible. 

\} . But if there was an aufseherin availa:) l c she had to CODe £'..long and lend a 
hand, did not she? .A . I have never se811 an aufseherin ~t a selection. 

COL. BACKHOUSE~ That cannot ;)E: right. 
12. 
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EA.JOR CRPJi!FIELD: I think she said : HI hc-vo never s een an aufseherin present 
a t a selection in 1, lager . If 

, 
THE UlTERPRETER: I a::J. sorry, she did. 

COL. BACKlIOUSE : ( TO the witness ) There were se l ections L" A 1a~er, wer e 
not there? il.. Yes. 

Q. Wh~ was present thore? A. I do not know. 

Q. Some ['.ufseherin I s must have been present, nust not they? A. I do not know. 

Q. It would be very unusual to have a selecti on without an aufsehcrin present, 
WDu1d not it? A. No , on the contrnry. 

Q. iNho would take down the numbers which you have to dc8.l wit h in your C8l::rp? 
A. I do not know. 

Q. Who would look a.fter the womon who were sel ected? L . I VIDS never int er est ed 
in selections in L Casp, and nei t hor was I interested in se1c.ctions in C 
Ca..'1lp, but it was :'ny duty to b e present there . 

I 

Q. Tha t has really nothi~ whatever to uo 'iVith what I a'Il putting to you, so 
will you listen t o the questions and answer those, Will you tell De aeain 
who would do all these duties on these se1ect:i:ons if there were no 
auf seherin present? A. I to l d you t-:.l ready beca.use I WD.S not interested 
in it I do not know. 

Q. Then wQy do you say it would be unusual for an a ufscherin to be present if 
you were not interes ted? A. Bec aus e all the aufseherin had their 
jobs with outs ide kO~'1:""-"'.ndos or in offices of the ad,~inistration. 

Q. _ Is not that just why you had to b o brou2:ht in on occasions? A. No . 

Q. You would be t he hD.ndiest pe:; r s on, of course, would not you, when you 'Here 
in the blockfuhrer ' s roo~? A. I hnd :.'JY duties ; I was not all ovred to 
leave t he telephono. 

Q. I sugr-.-es t t o you tha t on a se l ection in b lock 9 two girls junped out of t he 
window. A. Tha t is possi b l e . 

Q. And that you wont up to thm .::-.nd shot t he::-.1 whil st t hey l ay on the gro\.U1d. 
A. No . 

Q. Even so~eone who was not a v ery good shot vrould not find it very ha rd to 
hit two women lying on tho ground, would they? A. I do not know. 

i'} . Just one l as t thin£; about these selections. You told us that when :;?cople 
were sent to t he gas cha.'Ilbcr you ent ·cr ed that up in your books as "Special 
treatmentll? A. Yes . 

Q. That was an instruction, was not it? A. Yes, . instructions through the 
., phone Civ~ by ober aufseherin Deschel. 

Q. And were you forbidden to speak outside the CM!~ about these things? 
A. About what things . 

Q. About the selections anu the gas chMJoer and tho beatinc of prisoners? 
A. Nobody prehibi t oG. t hat . 

Q. You were allowed to t 2.l k [~bout it , were you? A. I do not know whether it 
wC.s a llowed, but I know it WD.S not p rohib i ted. 

Q. No a tte6pt to keep it secret? 
fact you were never 2.llowed to 
bec 2.use of typhus , so we could 

A. It was .::-.lrcady kept S0cret through the 
leave th6 CC)2-:J.p because the oa'1p was closed 
not , l ec..ve the c :J..:.'l::? 6.nyway. 

13. 
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Q. I wD.nt to talk to you 2J)Out uppels . I c.o not think there is very much 
difference between us on the appels fro~ the evidence you have already 
given. You often c.id kee? prisoners as 101'1.2: as three and four hours 
on appels, did. not you? L. Not so l one. 

Q. How long? A. One hour; o.n hour 2nd perhaps it :d 3ht have been two hours. 

Q. Why did you say yesterday it was someti;-,1es three or :four hours? I was 
only quoting your ovm words back t o you. 1,. . ThD.t wc.s an exception. 

Q. And you ::J.ade 'people ste..nd still then, did not you? A. Of course, quite 
na turally. 

Q. If they moved t hey were beat en, were not they? A. That is nonsense . 

Q. Yell, whd was the point i n telline the:n to stand still? 1 .... . No - stand 
still, I (l::l not want to say with that expression that they vvere not e.llo,V'ed 
to move~ sort of not stand to at t ent ion. 

THE ?RESIDENT: What is that? 

COL. BACKHOUSE: I think she is making n distinction between mo"V'inG o.bout and 
. standing to attention. (To the wit ness ) Aj.ld if people did not behave 

the:nselves as yoiJ wo.nt ed then to on o.ppels did not you sor.'.eti:Ales r.lake the~ 
kneel? A. Yes • 

. Q. Or Oil othel" occe.sions c.id not you '-1ake sOL1ebody hold stone$ e.bove t heir 
head? A. N:J , that is f antasy. 

Q. Have you seen other )eopl c do i ne it? A. Yes . 

Q. It was quite a usual pUniSYlH€ nt in 0. concentration c2.1~rp, was not it? 
b." I clo not -know; I :'":.oa11 on rw own. 

~ . But you hc.ve seen peopl e bein,.:; :,"1adc to do it , have not you? A. Yes . 

Q. 'iVho Tr.8.G.e· ther.1. do it? A. I do not know. 

Q. Eave you ever soen it in, C laser? 

Q. I suggest to y ou that if any of these internees' did not ste.nd still on 
the 8.:?pel t hat is ·trhat you made the::.l do , you either ,-:a.de theE1 kneel or 
hole. s t ones upright fe>r a 10D[~ tine, and if' they fal tercd you beat the::1. 

A. No . 

Q. Do you r8:ne!1~b er the affidavit of Lebowitz ( No . 92 ) ? ii. . Yos . 

Q. That is really the account t hat she :;ives of cm e.ppel by you wh i ch I have 
j'.lst asked about. She says you uSlJcl to kick people lying on the ground 
too ~ did not she? A. Yes . 

Q • Do you remember the o..ffidavit of Dunlcle::;arm ( No. 22) which YOtl were asked 
about yesterday? A. yes . 

Q. She is the WOI:lun who sai d you had your hair tied up a t the back. A. Yes. 

Q. As a ::natter of f'~.ct you did wear your hair tied up a t the back, did not you? , 
.1!... • . I di d not wear lny ho..ir in that wC'.Y E'. t all. I h8.d a. sort of drum of ,[,:Y 

pigtf:'.ils, o..nd that vvas quite loVl in the neck. 

Q. Your ho..i r W8.S dravrn back, was not it? Just have a look at t.his photograph 
of yourself (S. a..C.16 haneled ). Your. hair is tied up at the back there, 
is not it? A. yos . 

Q. This new hair s tyl e With the curls han~ing down is so~ething new since 
you left Bels en, is not it? A. Yes , that ori13h1ated in the prison in 
Celle . 14. 
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Q. Lild, of course , Ehl Grt used to wen.r her h2..ir Gown Qt the 'bQC _ Qnd she has 
put it up sii1c e she c C'".,e here , hQS not she? i ... . One hEtS :10t Eot 2..11 the 
0i.Jportuni ties now for 0.11 the hc..ir fashions which one would like to hnve , and 
one h8B to ~ake t he best of it. 

Q. Of course it is not c..s easy to recognise t hc'-1 when you CO;";le and look at thC::l 
in a dock if t hey havc chru1Ged thoir hei r style c~lpletely, is it? A. The 
fac e is c.lways the S2.:.1e. 

Q. ])0 you think that Ehlert looks now o.s she lookecl a t Belsen? 
different. 

A. Slightly 

Q. You re:r.er.iber what that girl Thmkl e.":l[.'.rm said "bout you, do not you? A. Yes . 

Q. I do not want t o read i t cll out because you have r eo.d it yourself, but i t 
is aL':1ost exactly whc.. t the other s so.y · ~'.b6ut you on these appel s , is not it? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You reBelIilier the next )2.[,e, 23?' I. . Yes. 

Q. Br zustovskn, the t wo Weinfelds c.....'1d Wi tz, 0.11 who say exactly the s2.'11G thing? 
A. Yes. 

C2 . Are they a ll wrong? A. Yes , a 11 vfrong; t hese people exageratted; they 
made out of a small fly an clepho.nt . 

~ . They say that you were the worst S. S. ·\fO~12.l1 in the c erap. A. Yes , they say so. 

Q. You d id get v ery r 2.pid pro mot i on for ['. young .r:; irl , c'Li d not you? A. No; 
Gurins v~ service of two year s . 

Q. Well , fro~!l e. girl in the dO,iry to in ch2.rgo of 30, 000 WO,llcn in 0. matter of 
'two yea rs is pretty r n;,:>id pronation, is :'10 t it? A. The.t is nothing to do 
wi t h the dai ry. 

Q. Were not you specially 
HunGarians? A. No . 
censor dep2.r tment was 
was sGnt in cC',mp C. 

chosen fo r l ager C vihen they began to Gas: the 
T here were very few Aufseherin o'nd the post office 

closed, so I had no particulQr duty o.nd therefore I 

Q. And. was it on the s trengt h of t h2 t c.ppoin'b.:lent tha t y ou thought it would be 
0, b right idea to carry Cl whi p round with you? A. Wh~n I carried C'. whil) I 
was not -proc10ted a t 0.1:\.. I v{['~s p rCl!n:Jted on t he 1 st Jo.lluary 1945, a fter 
having left Ber kena'..l. 

Q. Were you pronoted 2.S a r eward fo r your sorvices in l iquidc.tinc C[;.2'XP .C? 
A. Cump C we.s no t liquidated. Whether.I had b6en pn:toted therefore I do not know. 

Q. Hessler WE',S wrong in tellinG us C".'.::TP C was ' 1iquicl2.t cc. i ll Dece:ibo r, was he? 
A. Maybe he has chosen 0. wronS expressioll ; it wc,s transferr ed i~1to C::.::rp 1-. . 

Q. How ;",13.ny were left to trD.nsfer? A. 15,000 to 20, 000. 

Q. I want to ask you c.bout Oile or two :J2.T'iiculo'r instances. You re!:~e!nbcred, I 
think , yesterday the occasion when you saw t hi s mother tiyinc: to t alk to 
her daughter across the 'wire? A . I re::'1c..'T.lbGr . 

Q. I just want to sec how far we 
did it hap,)en, f irst of o.ll? 
incident; that was a frequent 

ere in ":'.[~ re er.lCilt n'.Jout the incident. 'When 
A. No , I do not re~::e;:lber that special 

ce..se . 

Q. I see . You quite regule..rly beat wonen for tryin[; to t alk t o t heir dau2~ hte;rs , 
did yo u ? A. No , I hove never l:Je2.t en so'J.obody bcco.use a :nothe r spoke with 
her do.ue;hter; that is nonsense or c. l ie. 

Q. I em only g.) i Yl[; by what you saie. last :'liSht . You keep chanl2:in:3 so. You 
said you did not deny .that you beat hur , .you ue:1Y that you beat her till she 
fe U to the gro'J.nd o.nd did not k i ck her. L d 'J.S hc.ve it p10.i11 what you do 
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}fAJOR. CRANFIELD: I cb not agree wi ththc.t . I think the wi tncss sa.id 
y esterday that it wa.s possible that if the incident took plc:-.ce she beat 
hor; in a-.1Y case she would. not beat her so bc.dly that she fell to the 
[l;round . I do not D.[;reo she re:::'1embered the incident or c.gr eed she did 
beat ----

THE JUIXm ADVJCATE: lYJY note says: Ii I do not deny I beat her, but r did not 
beat her till she fell to the ground, "-cnd I did not kick her. " 

COL. DACKHOUSE: ThD.t is ey~ctly the sa~e a.s ~2ne. To be quite sure we hc-d 
better l ook at this in the transcript. "I do not deily . that I beat her, 
but I c.id not beat her t ill . she foll to the s roun<i C'.nd I did not kick her 
either. " 

1,.:J.JOR CRfJi}~IELD: I apolocis e. 

COL. BACKHOUSE : ( TO the witness) Do you re'.le!:'.ber the incident or 0.0 not you? 
1. . No. 

8. You have beaten so :r.1Z.ny WO~"1en you carmot rem6:nber whether it happened or 
not; is that rop.lly the position? J,-. I do not r e:nember this incident, 
and I di d not beat so many wO::'lcn that I would not b e abl e to remember. 

Q. You know 110na Stein when she recounts that incident says tha.t you kicked 
her too . "7{c:-.s not it a 1mbi t of yours to kick thes e women? L . I never 
kicked anybody with T;lY foot . 

Q. I sug gest to you that you r cgularly kicked peopl e ; it was Ell l part 1:'.nd 
parc el of this business of swo.J3geriYl,(i· round in top boots. A. I yvould like 
to know who has seen !:18 8waS!3erinE; in the C8.l:J.p. 

Q. Cone to Be1sen now. We will l .oave Auschwitz o.ltogether. When you arrived 
at Belsen you went ~th [\ transport , did. not you? A. Yes. 

Q. Then Kr a:l1er Elsked sJ?cc io.lly that you shQul d stay, did not he? A. No , it 
wa s me wh o vranted to stc:-y . 

Q. Di d you ask Kr~l1Gr if you could sto.y? A. Yes . 

Q. b.nd then he applied for you o.nd you st:'Yed? 1 •. Yes . 

Q. And there you were arbi etsfuhrcrin? L . Yes. 

Q. I s it true that pa.rt of your dut y Vl[~S 

parties wer<; GOi nS out ~J.1d conine; in? .. 
·b sta nd a t the c a.t e when tho working 

1,- . Ycs • 

(: . And did not you regularly beat propl e d t hat E;a te? 1->. , I would like to 
ask you to leave t his word "regularly", and I have never ~)eaten prisoners 
at the cate. 

Q. Did not you regula rly co.rry your whip <, t Eds en? A. No .. 

Q. Whe.t did you do during -Cb:; day af ter the workinc parties hau. [~onc out Md 
befor e they C~·.1e .back in the evening? L . I went with -::'';l working ·~)[~rty into 
the wood and tried to l ook for so:ne :-.1C'.tc;;ria l for ? reparing wreaths for the 
S. S. :people who wer e dying o.t that ti;.:e in g reat !1uDbers fro!.1 tyPhus. 

Q. And you were working y.our party in the w00d collectiIlJ3 ",-a t erio.l for that? 
A. I went with. three prisoners who were called arbietsdienst on duty? but t hey 

were p risohers. With these t hree I vmnt to collect this !:1aterio,l. 

Q. I see what you ne2.n. Did you spG:!1d 0.11 dt-'.y doinS that? A. No , 1.0.1s:) 
saw to it that the c~~p should be neat a.nd t ~ dy . 

Q. You used to go r ound inspectinG the c a.:·.:) , did not you? A. No . 
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Q. How did you ~oo whether it was neat nnu tidy or,not if you never inspected 

it? A. No, I V!D.S :-~10stly concerned with SO:-.1e sort of SCl. rdeninr; or ornc':.1ents. 
in front of the kitchen. 
About cleanliness or tidiness of the ca'!:]? I did not both about it because· 

there were others who were responsible for those things . I stood there in 

front of the kitchen and told the prisoners how t o do it . 

Q. What did you boat the prisoners vri th Cl.t I2 elson? A. I remenber only 

once that I had beaten so:ne:)ody in Bcl ncn, and tho.t WQS the kapo of 

El. kOTIuna,'1do, and this kapo instead of s s einr; to it thCl.t the kO:r:lr:nndo worked 

she \'i'3.S lyinr; in the sun sunninG herself, nnd thnt is the only time when 

I slapped her face . 

Q. I suggest to you that you carried on d Dolsen just as you had done at 

~uschwitz, be ati~£ Cl.nc kicking. .h . It is a lie. 

Q. Arid ;£1tlking people kneol Md ::laking i:l6ople hold s tones over their hee.ds, 

just as you had done Cl.t Luschwi tz . 

A. No , only once I [!,D.ve orders to a kitchen working party to do son:e sp.-ort, 

b ut of course >In thout holding stones in their hands . 

17. 
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Q Let us now turn to raalcing sport. Did not you r,lake ,one kor.1GJando do sport 
for half an hour because one of thc girls dropped a piece of rag as they 
were marching in fron work? lie No" it was not the question of a rag at 
all, not a rag, it was b'ecause sOi~lebody threw two parcels away l1ach contain­
ing three pounds of meat. It y;n.s not the question of some rag throym away. 

Q Do you remember the vii tness Sun'3chein? A. Yes. 

Q Was she in tm t kor.ll:Jando? Ao It is possible; I do not know. 

Q Do you r~~lber the witness Helene Klein? A. Yes. 

Q Was she in tha ii la:n1lrilando? Ao It is possiblo; I do not knov~ 

Q Do you remember her account of how you EJade sport? A. Yes . -

Q Beating anyboc1y who s topped with your riding whip? A. No, that was 
Helene Klein who said tmt, not Sunschein; Sunschein was honest" s; .. te did 
not say it~ 

Q Did you realisc that people were dying all ' round you at Belsen? 
c0urse I r ealised it. 

Q Did you reali3e the ~nmunt of 'food that these prisoncrs were getting? 
A I knew. 

Q Did you think that was a proper " .. my to trea t them? A. No. 

Q There is one mere thing I want to a sk you about. You sister told us 
at the b eginning that you were a little coward, when you were a little girl 
you ran o.way a nd woulrl not fighto Do you rcrilember Anita Lasker giving 
evidence? A. Yes $ I '10. 

Q Is not it tru3 that you ~ricd to curry favour Yiith the prisoners vvhcn you 
lQ1ew the British were cowing? A. No, never. 

, I 

Q You had always treated ther.1 - l et 111e choose the most difficult word I 
can - very severely, had not you? A7 Yes. 

Q But the las t few dD.ys wa3 quite 11 Cl,ifferent story, was not it? 
\ , it was always the smae, <..s always~ 

A. No , 

Q Did not you try and mix yourself vvith the prisoners? A. Why should I? 

Q Ib you r e£.1anber a8.yins ~o her: "It vvill soon be the end and we will be ' 
liberated"? A. I h -:.vc never spuken to Anita Lasker at all, a nd when tbe 
vii tncss cane in, vihen she saw mc, she could not say anything agains t rl1e 
so she invented this lie. 

Q Let me just put thin finally to you, that you went into this service, the 
concentration caL1p servicc t as a yo11l1..l3 girl, a frightencc. young girl 
according to yuur zis tor; e, CO"N'.::lX.'rlly little girl, and found yourself for 
the first time in a position to strike peop1,c when they c01.ud not strike 
you back? A. Yen, it uisht hav-o been that I was frightened when I Vffi.S a 
child, but I r;rew u:p in the mQ'lntiEleo 

Q I suggest to you that you glor~od" in your jack boots and your pistol and 
your whip? . At Gloried? I could not say so. 

Q And. that you "!:>mt and Eltrcated, ;)risoners to such an extent tl1.c'\t even 
you were told to stop carrying a -;lhip, that you contipued to do it? A, I 
have bcatenprisoners: but I rove not illtr(~nted thcn11 and it 'was not 
prohibi teJ. to r,lC pers onally to carry a whip; it was a general order 
enlarJa ting from the CO:'-iIil1!:inClant that whips vvill no t be carried any li1orc~ 

Q And I suggest to you that 'when you got to Bclsen you asked to be allowed 
to stay there and continued your conduct right up to the time that you knew 
the British were cOIili11[~ into the canp? A. If I would have wanted to 
continue this bomv:i our, o.s you say, .I need not have asked permission to stay 
in Belseni. 1 could ho.v,J continued 'co 0.0 so in the other camps; no: it had 
qui to a ~ferent rcal:;() l'lQ 16. -
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Re-cxruuined by MAJOR CRANFIELD. 

Q You h.'we been a sked about your j a ck boots or top boots. Are these part of 
the Gennn.n uniforrrt? A. Yes . 

Q Were they issued to you with your uni~orra? A. Two pai rs . 

Q .And did all a~seherin a t Auschwitz wear theo? A. Yes . 

Q Was your r evolver a t Ausehwitz an issue? A. Yes . 

Q Were you ordered t o wear it? .1.\. . ycs~ 

Q Was it explained t o' you in the order vvhy' you wero to ' wear it? 
we were told it is for s elf-protection. 

Q Were you t old agains t VihOl:l it wa s to protect you? A. Yes . 

Q Wha t 'were you told? .A. Agains t partisans. 

.A. Yes , 

Q I vWont you to look at the affic1a vi t on page 22. Does she desoribe you 
as aged 30? A. Yes. -

Q Is there any mention in that af~iUavit of a photograph of you? A. No. 

COL. BACKHOUSE: I did not SU~Ges t t Int there "las ; she was ,'Pointed out at the 
tirile. 

MAJOR CRANFI:ELD: Ha ve you so t a copy of the a~~ic1avi t on pn.ge 23? ~ Yes . 

Q Is there a:ny id.entifieation .o~ you in thD..t a~~ic1avit at all? A. Yes. 

Q Where is it? 

COL. BAOKHOUSE: I do not think the witness knew what was rucant. 

THE PRESIDENT : ' She has t aken it to be an a nswer "Yes" t o the question: " ls 
there any identification" . 

COL. BACKHOUSE: I will agree a t once that there is nothi..l:le in that af'f'iclavit. 

THE PRESIDENT: The Court have seen it. 

MAJOR CRANFIELD: There is n.no ther a~~id3:v:i. t on pn.se 24, a j',lOnth aftervvar<1s , 
when an identificati on b y photograph t ook place. 

COL. BACKHOUSE: Somebody r ealised it had not been done. 

TEE JUDGE ADVOCATE: I ~ind it very dif~icult to follow. If the defending 
of~cer wouilid just put his point theni~ the Court do not like it then 
the Court rJight stop h iml but it does not sea:l to help if we have these 
disoussions. There is a f'urth.er one on paSd 24; I do no-t know whether 
tha t is in mind or not. / 

MAJOR CRANFIELD: I will l eave that. ( To the witne ss): You were asked Why 
you stayed at Bclsen. Vliilil you tell the Court "Why you 3s1red Kra1:ler t o 
let you stay a t Belsen? A. It is a priva t e a .~1'oj.X'. :r got to l'J1.oW 
sOu16body in Auschwi tz wh0 W'd S; +'X'Unsf'D'X"i'Od to Bolsen a nd that is the reason 
why I wanted to stay. 

" ', 

Q Where was he a t BeIsen? A. He V>iD.S a n S. S. rmn , his ronk V-I"<lS nbro.'HChPc'l.·:i'uhJ..-O.l.'~ 

and his work was engineer in some part of the building • . 

THE JUDGE ADVOCATE: You were not very long at Belsen, were you? 

Q Did you in Bclsen ever take · 'part in whD.. t you call making sport? 
myself l1lEI.de sport with the prisoners. 

Q In Belsen? A. Yes. 19. 

A. No. 

A. I 
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Q It ... vas rathcX"'-s-trenuous to tho prisoners, was not it? A. Yes. 

Q Were- there people in Belsen in Mllrch and April who wcre fit to do that 
strenuous kind of exercise? A. Yes. 

Q How many would you make sport of a tone t:ir.1e? A. 20. 

Q Why were those 20 selected? A. They were not selected but I told them 
to do these physiclll exercises bocause nOBOdy adQitted that he had thrown 
awny this meat vn1ich I oentioned before. 

Q Is that the only occasion on which you say you rnade people nmke sport in 
Belsen? A. Yes. 

A lVIDffiER OF THE COURT: Was there a l agerfuhrer in fl C" lager in Auschwitz? 
A Yesl a feraa l e lagerfuhrer called }fundel. 

Q You were under her orders? A. Yes . 

Q Can you say 'whether you were the youngest of thc a ufseherin or not? 
A Yes, I VIDS the youngest in Auschwitz. 

(The a~cuscd l ellv?s the vlace fro@ which she 
has Slven her oVldence.) 

MAJOR CRANFIELD: As I f.lentioned in LyY o:,')l.enlngl it is part of r::ty case that the 
affidavi t evidence , the docurn.enta ry evidence, in this case is unreliable 
and to prove tha t I wish t o put in the a ffidavits made by the witnesses who 
cane here in person. In cross-cXDL.unation of those vii tnesses various 
passages out of the aff~davits were put to th6~ by the defending officers. 
It would be open t o t he ? r os ecutor to say that the defence ha ve not proved 
those a ffidavits were maCi.'; , a nd I vmnt to point out that I O1i1 go ing to the 
credibility of the affida-rits, not t o the credibility of the witnosses, 
whe n I put in the s e affidavits nOVl. In an ordinary case it might, I think, ' 
be said tha t the a ffichvit should luve been put in at the time when the 
witness '1m3 herel but the Court will r erneraber tha t Major Munro, (l.uring the 
prosecution's ~~se , mentioned that he intended to put the affidavits in 
a nd it WllS then he "laS told that was not the time to do it. 

In the case of some a ffid&vits, some witnesses villo crune here 
i:1L'\de a n affidavit contair..ing a sinGl e a ccusation against one of the 
accused and when they cru~e here they failed to r e cognise the a ccused. That 
being so the defending officer concerned did not, of course, put the 
a ffidavi t to the vri tne ss beclluse he f a iled to recognise the a ccused. 

It is oy clls e now that there Ilrediscrepa ncies betvreen the 
evidence of the vritncsses in the box and what they said in their statements 
a nd in order to p rove that I have got, in my submission, to p~t in the 
affidavits themselves. They are part of the bundle and have been before 
the Court b ut were l of course, with<1ravrn. when the prosecutor was reading 
his own a ffidavits. I pay t hat these affi dllvits arc authentic documents; 
they are just the sru~G IlS the othur affidavits in the case> and they assist 
in proving or disproving the chllr38 because they show 'what reliability onc 
can give to the a ffic13.vits comine; from that source. All the affidavits 
came from· the same s ource, No. 1 War Cril~es Inves tiga tion ' Team, and the only 
affidavi ts we have had Iln opportunity o f f checking are the ones of those 
witnesses who have COlil.C here in person. Then we had the opportunity of 
checking the value of thes e affidnvi-ts a nd comparing tha.1 with the oral 
evidence given by the vii tness os . I subni t on tha t ground it is a document 
of assistance to the Court, it is a uthentic, and I am therefore enabled by 
Regul~tion 8 to put it . in and it \rill be convenient for me to put them in 
fo~lly at this stage. ' 

THE JlTIGE ADVOCATE: This beeo@es very cOl:rplicn.ted, but it is entirely a 
D.18.".iter for the Court to say what they will do. Majo r Cranfield is right 
when he says in the nOIm;1l1 vvay when a witness Cor.lOS in person into the 
(bck you eross-exru;une her in the vritness box to sce whether she has made a 
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different statement f'rom ~vh.'\t she has said in Court.. If ,she agrees toot 
she has r:nde tlnt stateuent then that is the end of that incident and 
accordingly later on the defending officer says: lIyou should not believe 
that V7or.nnbeeause she has told a different storyll. 

If she denies she ever uade the statenent when she is <luestioned 
in the ,vitness box then; a nd then only, is is usual to draw her attention 
to th.:; 'ir.ci tten doeUL'lent and; if I,3he does not remember it or cloes not ' 
ad.l.1it it, then eross-exnaine her as to 'whether she made tha t stateraent. 
I thou3l1t that lnd been dom and the documents were not ;.Jut in, I think, 
because I unders tood the defending officers were satisfied that they had 
fJc'"tde their points as regards that particular piece of evidence. Now I 
gather :Major Cranfi eld is, in effect, saying: lIUnder Regulation 8 I want to 
put before you affidavits which have been rilade by ,rltness es who have been 
here personally, and I '\vn.nt to show that those a ffidnv:i ts contain either 
different stories, or an additional story, or do not contain the story 
which they told in the box" . 

It searas to r:1e rather cODplicated and. I VlOuld like, before the 
Court consider this i:Jatter, to heClr what Col. Backhouse has to say. 

COL. BACKHOUSE: I would say, as a 'fila tter of practica l politics, I do not Imow 
if it matters a lot because the Ceurt have had a copy all the way through, 
but as a l:ntter of theory it is a ,_'.Os t improper suggestion becp-use the 
proper tifae for one to suggest that a witness has said sonething at one 
tiBe and is now saying sonething different in the bos is when the witness 
is in the box, and then the witness MS an OP:9ortUni ty of explaining it. 
It mn.y-welJL be that the 'witness can expl a in what thos e differences, if any, 
are. In my view ' it would be quite vo.lueless te put those doclli~ents in ' 
now. If they arc put in I shall Clsk the Court to pay no a ttent~on to 
these differences, if they exist, because the wi mess VIDS not a sked to 
explain theEl. 

My frionJ. has not told the CoUrt which onGS he is propos:i.ng to 
asle for. Hc has infon:lcd li1e but I have not taken the trouble t o see vvhcther 
there are differences or not because I do not think it matters in the least 
unless the witnesses are given an opportunity of explaining theIi1 if there 
arc differences. If LW fri end sU&~ests there were differences he should 
have asked about. thCEl at the proper tiae. He ca nnot novy seek to put 
fO~1ard these differences at this star-e ; if ho does those vritnosses vrill 
have to come back. - He had his opport~ity of cross-exaraining them, but ' 
if wants to sug3est they told one story at onc time in onc place and 
a different story at a nother tir .. 1e in another place well they should COI:1e 
back ancl be given an opportunity of explainine it. 

You cannot httve your cake o.ncl eat it. If the defending officers 
,do not want to draw the witness 's a ttention to an affidavit because he 
has failed to recognise somebody in the dock, then they cannot put the 
affi davit in aft envaru.s and say: "Well, you sce, it never happened because 
she nissed the incident out" whereas if it had been put to her she nil3ht 
very well have given it. 

The Court vlill appreciate I cam10t lead rny witnesses, no LlOre than 
the defence are alloywu to lead their s , and the result is that very often 
you have a witness who Ylhen he comes into the Court cloes not r e:t .. mw'ber all 
the things he so.id before. SOhletli;lCs, as I have had to do during the course 
of this case once or t¥Qce, you co.n direct the vdtn ess 's Lund to the 
incident vrithout leading anc1 sODotines you canno t do it a t a ll. It is a 
hopeless position if the defence 'i~.nt t o su~, r,cst that the incident did not 
take place, or they are now telling a diffe~~nt story. The defence can put 
the thing to thcIa; they can direct the witness I s Ct ttention straight to 
~ha t point~ and the very good rule of practice which has a lways been wade 
~n Courts ~s th::tt if' you want to <lucs tion a vri tness about a previous 
statemen~,. or ~ you want to question the veracity o~ the previous stateracnt 
?r d~pos~t~on ~n a~ way the proper time to do it, a nd the only t~ue to do 
~t, ~~ vvhen t~e witness is in the box and can answer <luestions upon it o.nd 
e:x:plllln. the. differences. To , put th0Y,1 in novr would be qui t e wrong and I 
wo~d certa~~ h&ve to recall those witnesses a nd let Major cranfield put his 
.po~nts to thcrile 
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THE JUI:G.E ADVOCATE: The point on . tJ:ut 'which troubles me is this: I agree 
wi th you, a nd I think we are all agreed, that the defending officer when 
he hD.d the witness here should have cross-exru'lined. If that is not done 
is not Ma j or Crn.nfield saying: "Ovnng to the 'Regulation I an still able, 
not as a ny atteL~t to dailolish the case fOT the prosecution in cross­
e:x:mIunation but i n order t o build up lJY case during r:ry defence, to place 
before the Court a docuiwnt which I suggest is one which v{Ould help them 
to decide the truth or otherwis e of this ca se" . You sce my point? 

COL. BACKHOUSE : I sce that point a nd I a~so sec their points , but what I ar.l 

sayine is tl1at quite earlY in this case it v¥as suggested that it VYrlS 

:llilproper to put in a n a ffidavit when the witness was present. You suggested. . . 
t~'1.t yours elf, sir, as a Latter of fact , a nd, if you 'Will . remember, I did, 
not do it. I did not put it in a nd it vvas agre ed that thn.t was the proper 
prn.ctice. These yd tnesses have been 1)X'Csent. It f.nkes no difference if 
the 'a ffichvi t is put in then or vn thheld:. She has gone and r.ry friend has 
had his opportunity of doing it. He ha d his opportunity of doing it a t 
the proper tllue when he could have a s s isted the Court a lot if he could 
have s a id to the vd t ness: "Now you hD. vc t old 0. totallY different story on 
another occn.sion; is not it false?". 

Major Cranfield is not now trying to discredit the vii tness in 
the box; he; is saying her a ffianvit is wrong a nd, therefore, you r.1ust not 
pay any attention t o the other a ffidavit -- well, I do not profess to know 
wha t he ·is talkin.g a·i)ou t becn.us e a s I undcrs tond it ho Ylas saying "you r,lUS t 
not relY on this ::tffidavi t because I ru:J. going to produoe another affidavit 
of a witness o..nd then you will sec how unreliab l e the affic1a vi ts arc. ", but 
if he is trying to discredit the witness of course he should put it to her. 

I unders tood. his point was that it was nO,t the vvi tness he was 
seeking to 'discredit but the whole Systcr,l of the affidavits by~aying that 
th0se affidavits do not re:..'Prescnt v/hat the vvitness would say in the box. 
That is the only way it can be put. I still s ay tHat it is qu:ite wrong 
for hlln to say: "Now you sue how/unreliabl e those a ffidavits a r e be-pause 
she ha s said s omething different" when he does not ' give the witness ~n 
op~ortunity of saying on oath: "They are both -true" or explaining how 
the difference aros e". · That is wha t he should ha v e done and if h e does 
not do it then, in my subElission, they should n~'t be put in and i do not 
think we ought t o sta rt it a t this stage. It is: an ordinary rule of 
prn.ctice. The witnesses have been here a nd they could have 'been p~t to 
thef.1 a nd, in 1,W sU~Llission, they should not noVi GO in. 

I think it is quite aca der,uc because , of course, 'the Court have 
thew in front of them and their l~nds wer e directed to the a ffidavit each' 
tine. I have not the slightest doub t the Court hD.ve long since comparec1 
these things. If they Th'lve not they night have been curious, but it , is 
obyiously one of the things the Court does l ook a t. You pave , th~~ in front 
of you and the Court cor.lpares thell vd th the evidCnce given in the box. 
But as- a matter of principle I think it would be wrong -to adrni t thcB at 
this stage. The def enili.ng officers should follow the re8,ular practice of 
giving the witness an opportunity of explaining the discrepancies, if they 
wn.nt to, therefore I subr.ri. t tha t the Court in their discretion should say 
these shOuld not be ~)ut in and put in in this 'lJva,y_ Had they been ·· pu~ in 
quite properly when the witness could mvc' nadc ' ah explaIID.tion they might 
have helped us a lot, but in this wn.y t hey cannot hel~ . ' , ' 

THE JUDGE ADVOCATE: Col. Baekhouse, 'What you have just s a i a:' ~oil1eVlhat Cli:scruietens 
mo, because I mu her e princip~lly to ensure thD.t a t the close of the case ' . 
I indica t e what in BY viev{ may be treated as ev:'idence against eaeh acc,:"s?d, 
and if an a ff'ida vi t tiJ.s not been put in or ha s oruy been used on a spec~fJ..c 
point I mus t direct the Court . tba t whe the r they ea n, do that or not in law 
they j,1ust not t ake into a ceount in tJ:u t bundle-the, affidavits which were 
not produced J or not deal with the ' whole of th'e arl'idavi~ if oIily 'one 
portion of that ' affidavi t was put in evidence. . 
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. COL. BACKHOUSE: I will agree with that at once, but my point is not that it is 
evidence of the faots whioh they o ontain. I am sure you will agree it is not 
only the right but the duty of the Oourt which has a summary of evidence. 
pui; before it, as it is always -- 8l1.d this is an abstraot -- that when a 
witness oomes into the box and 3ivc,s evidenoe to compare the nbstraot with 
the evidenoe whioh the witness is p;iving, and it is not only ri~ht but it 
is the normal practice of the Court to draw attention t o. the disorepancies. 

All these statements whi ch my friend is talking about are oontained 
in the abstraot whioh has boon before the Court 8l1.d I have no doubt nt all 
that ycm, sir, as j'Ltige advocate when th') se Yfitnossos w,ero r;iving their 
evidenoe foll~ved it on the nbstraot beoause that is naturally ono or the 
functi ons of a judGe advocnte at a trial and, as a mntter of :f!.act , I think 
the defence probably put to them -- I have a recollection if it bein~ done -­
disorepancies which they .thou[';ht of unJ you obviously would put to them any 
disc.reparoies whioh y ou s~ wh~ch had been left by thc defencc , which is 
the normal praotioe nnd has !3.lroady been done by the Court l ong since • 

. It is a question purely of som:;t hin'~ which should havo been done and Was 
done because I 8.m sure you would have done it Y"J urself and put the abs traot 
to the v/itness if there was a material discrepancy. 

That is Why I still s ay t h is is the wrong way of d oing it when it 
oould have beon cone the right way. My rocolleotion is tb,at you drew 
during the c ourse of one of the oross-oxaminnti , ns 'to tho right way of 
doing it. It is my firm reoollecti0n at the tine that these things were 
put to them. 

As I say, I really do not rllind but , of c ourse, if they go in 
my fr 'iend . will appreciate that they 80 in at their faoe value as affidavits 
ana events which are spoken to therein then become sworn evid ence by 
witnolilses. Whether he fully appreCia ted that I do not know. .At the mom:mt 
I sh-::J ulil have said he has had the bes t of t\'vo p ossible worlds. Ho has had 
the opportunity of cross-examining on the nbstract with regard to any 
disorepancy trere may have' been but the p rosecution arc unable to put what 
is on the affidavit if the vritnesses at the time (l ocs not say it. How he 
is going to put the prosecution in the position of taking advantage of that 
evidenee as well and if he wants t o do that it is up to him. 

I think it is largel y aoade mio but it seerns t o me he is ? utting 
himself- in danger and getting no adv antage in law. 

THE PRESiillENT: Have you anyth :Lng further t () say, Maj or Oranfiold" 

MAJOR CRt..NFIELD: The object of t h is 8.Ip lication is this: it is. part of our 
oase that thewitnosses h-avd fniled to come up t o their statements 'when in 
the box ~1 we are going to say that th~se nre gr ounds for bei ns very 
oautious when one considers tho docu~ntary evidence in this case, ,and in 
our speeches wo pr opose t o c orruno nt 0 .11. the discrepancies betV'lOen n witness 's 
statement in the affidavit and a Witness's staten~nt in the witnesS box. 

It occur re 1 t o us that if wo d id do that the prosecutor miEpt very 
well llnve ob jected to that becnuse he would say the affidavit of this witmss 
is not in evidence, the Court has n ot ['.;ot it before it, it has n ot be en put 
in, and you c anric· t comment on it. Whe ther we are right in that view I do 
not knaw. 

COL. BACKHOUSE: I can toll my frier:d he is not ri [)lt in that view. I shall n ot 
say that. I should say he must n Jt c omnent on t he d iscrepancies because he 
did not put thorn t o the witness. I should sny that undoubtedly whether the 
document is before the Court or not 

THE J11DG.E AlJVCXJATE: The point is that the document is not before the Court. The 
Oourt have oertainly use 1 the~ bundle of documents , whioh arc m t orig inals, . 
and it has only been for convenionce~ but these affidavits he is speaking about 
are not before the Court as affidavits. If a defend ing officer is going te 
say: "I point out that the witness who gnve evidence in person said nothing 
about tlU:s incident though she sni d it in an affidavit" the Oourt arc going to 
say: "Well, where is the affidavi t?1!. 
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COLONEL BACKHOUSE: I shall still make my objection whether the affidavit was 
before the Court or not, because I would say that if you want to comrrent on 

- the fact that a witness has told a different story at ore time to the story 
which she has told before the Court, there is only one time t hat -you are 
allowed to p ut that and that is whon the witness is in the box, 'and so .?; ive 
the witness an opportunity of t y ing up those two stories . That is onc of 
the oldest rulos of evide nce that I k now, that where you want to suggest 
that thore is a discrepancy betvlCen vvhat a witness has said on a previous 
occ asion and vrhat tho wi tnoss is now s aying in the box, it is your duty to 
indicate that to the Yr i tness . If it is documentary ovidence it is yeur 
duty to put that part of the documont to the Witness and, if you'wi s h , to 
then say t o the Court that that is Y{hat YfaS said . You must give the 
witness that opportunity of explaining it . 

The reasen I inter i.· upted my fr iend is this . I shall not , under 
any circwnstances, object to his comnonting on the discrepancies bvtwQen an 
affidavit ,-:nd 'what was said on the Ground that the affidavit was not before 
the COLU't , but whether or not that affidavit is DOf>T put in I shall still 
object to that comment unless it vn.J.s put te the vritness at the proper t:iJro 
and the witness g iven an opport-t.mity of expl aining it . That is why I say 
tha t it Should not be put in ru:Jiv . 

.J 

MAJOR CRANFIELD: This is a most impor tant matter fo r all the Defendi ng Offi cers , 
and a number of them wish to put points to t he Court . 

I hnve only got ono peint to put rorwnrd on what Colonel Backhouse 
has said am that is, I think, this . One has got to realise, whatever 
happens in the criminal courts in Englarrl, thoy are not run un:1er the Rules 
of Procedure of the Royal Warrant, and people do not hav0 brought against 
them 120 or 150 affidavits, whatever it is , and about 20 oral witnesses . 

By far the gre ater part of t he evidence in this case is documentary , 
and we feel that Whatever the Regulntions may be in the ordi~~ry way, i t i s 
essential for uS to be able to challenge the documentary evidence on the 
basis of comparing the statemont which a man gave at Belsen to No . 1 War 
Cri.m3s Investigation Team, t heir ar r a ngements , their translators , the ir 
officers who took the statelm nt , the ir ser jeant s, the whole arrangements 
under which this evidence is produced , with Wha t the na n says .in the box. 
I think other Defend ing Officul's would like to add their points beco.use , in 
my submission, it is most i mportant . 

MAJOR MUNRO: There is only one po int I would like to make on behalf of my ~{n 
four acoused , and that is that if these affidavits arc put in morely as a 
basis of compar ison to allow the Cour t t o judge t hu weight of the other 
affirlavits, then I shall associate myself with the application. If , on t he 

. other ha~ , thuse affidavits, having been put in, ar e to be used as evidence 
t hemselves against the accused, then I disassociate myself with the application. 

CAPl'.AIN ROEERrS : I am extr emel y interested in this application am I want to 
put in, in fact , somJ four affidavits of vritnc ssos \Tbo n..o.ve boen before the 
Court . What I think Colonel Bnckhouse has over-looked is that though wc 
may , in cross- exac,1inntion, w ve put the substanco of what the vlitness said 
in her statement t o her, yet What r,] arc o. lso interested in is not only what 
she did say at that time, but to whom she. sa i d it , at wh ... t date she said i t, 
Yvhe wa s the Interpreter , who t ook t he ste.temont f r om her , and a number of 
othor things of a similar nature . Certainly I do no t think anybody has put 
those que::?t i ons", to the witness when ho or she WaS in the box, and to my mim 
that will be in my ~vn case very material t o my defence if I can put those 
affidavits before the Court and so at a l ater date bo allowed to' comment 
upon them. It is not only thJ evidonce or alleged' evidence contained in that 
affidavit, it is the whole form of the document ., 

CAPrAIN CORBALLY: What I wo uld like to doal With is the question of identifica­
tion. There arc quite a number of discreparoios between the oral evidence 
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and the affidavit evideme about v/hich we must complain. It deals with 
atrocities and is deposed to in an'affidavit, and the person nlleged to 
have committed those atrocities is then not identified to the Court. You 
Can cross-examine a witncss, when you have he or she hero, about her mennry of 
that atroc ity ho.v_ing taken place, about how well she knc'il the person who was 
suppoSGd to have donu it, but you cannot possibly stand up the accused in the 
dock and say: "Is that the person who has dono it". That is going much 
too far. 

The idontif ication of the prisoners in the dock by the witnesses 
took place here under the mos t fair circumstnnces, and the prisoners Vlere 
made to stand up onc row at a time. If, in those .circumstances, the 
witness fails to recognise a person, then it is suroly a 'matter for comnent 
by the Defe~ding Officer comerncd that here is an affidavit about an 
atrocity which is deposed to on oath ai;l being corrol1itted by a person he says 
he knew very woll, and yet in the Court they arc not recognised. 

There con be no question, surely, of cross-examining ,a yvitness 
on the matter of identification; s urely we could not do that. That, I 
think, is onc of the ma in points of discrepamy which yve Yvill wish to coirnnent 
on in our speeches . 

CAPTAIN PHILLIPS: . I would IDw to support, in general terms, l'ia jor Cronfield' s 
application . I do no.t knoYI whether you want to knov-v from us which 
part icular affidavits we would like to have in ? 

THE PRESIDENT: No • 

CAFTAIN PHILLIPS: As to tho question of admissibility or othe~/ise , in my 
submission the short point is that these arc , and must be., admissible un:1er 
Regulation 8 , whateV.cr- may be the practice of the Old Bailey or anywhere 
else. This Court acts under those Regulations and no other . 

COLQNEL BACKijOUSE: I would like to s ay a few words in reply to the points 
made by the other Defending Offioers . So far as Captain Robert's point is 
conce rned, when he says he wants to know 'who took th..J statomonts and who was 
the Interpreter e..od So on, he had arilplo opportunity of cross-examining on 
that if ho YTanted to, bocause the Defome werc invited to am did ask me to 
bring certain peop le horo who took the 3.ffidavits. I could havo got more 
if they v/anted them. Tvvo they asked for nri1 two they got , arrl thoy had an 
opportunity of cross-examining thom. , 

If they are go ing to suggest any impropriety by any of those people 
thon their proper timo to do thnt is when those people are in the boX. 

So far as Captain Corbally 's point is comorned, I am afraid I 
must entirely disagree Y/ ith him. If h0 wants to . say this affidavit is 
unreliable because in the affidavit the witness says - let us take somebody 
neutral - "l identify Krarror", and ""'hon ho arrivos here arrl looks round arrl 
does not recognise Kramer, you have got to take the risk and you have got to 
tell Kramor to stand Up and ask tre witness: IINow is that tbp man?ft . 

You cannot say aftorl'-vards that because , whc n they looked round, 
they did not sce sorrobody, that therefore the eriginal affidavit Was wrong . 
You can cross-exarniro on identification. The cnse for the Defence ,is 
probably that the affidavit is wrong , and also that if the affidavit is , 
wrong thon Kramer did Y'.ot do the bea ting in that particular case. If you 
will not toke thc risk of letting him stand up and having a look at him, you 
must ne>t come along and say aftor'Narc1s that the yvitnoss could not have 
recognised him anyway . If you wcmt to say that is wrong you cannot be hoard 
af-:e~.,ards to say that because sorrobody did not recognise sormone in this 
Court amongst a group of 45 pcople and in the atmosphore of this Court, when 
they are brought down from the witness box and made to come along in front 
of ~he Court, thnt . they aro therefore lying or mistaken on a previous occasion 
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unless you put it to them properly and give them the opportunity of 
explaining . You must not keep quiet when the witness is in the- box am 
after they have gom stand up and say: "Obviously the ir story is all 
wr ong bec ause they failed to recognise sOm:::Jbodylt. Mo.ybc, as I pointed out 
to the Court at the time, and as Grese admitted ~oday, some of thorn have 
changed their appearance quite a l ot. In some casos I suggest it was 
deliberato and in other cases probably it was not deliberate at all. 
But if you want to suggost that they have got the wrong person, thon the 
proper tlme to do it is When the witness is horo an1 can give an answer. 

So far as Captain Phillips' s hort point is concerned, hO ,says: 
Well, the Regulation says so, am t ha t is that . There is a proper t:i.rm to 
put that. It is quite obvious that theso affidavits could have been put 
in when the vlitnoss was in the box . Thot is the practice in any criminal 
court. If you eross-examil1P on an aff idavit you put in the affidavit ; 
if you cross-oxamino on . a dopos i tion you put in the depos ition. But you 
cannot cOmlll;nt an it aftervlar ds if you do not do that a t the proper ti.mo, 
and these Regulations do not say anythi ng about the proper time, the wrong 
tiroo or any other timJ. I say there is a proper tim:J and they have chosen, 
as a matter of tactics not to put it in at the proper time. 

They have chosen not t o r umirrl the wi tnes'Ses of the incidents of 
which they now want to c omplain , when those those witnesses vrcre here _ 
Having chosen not t o (10 that, having chosen not to take the risk of the 
witnesses saying: "Yes, it is true", having chosen not to take the risk of 
the witnessQs saying: " Yes, that is the man I man", t hey non vvant to say: 
Well, the witness's stories arc untrue . - I say they have missed their 
opportunity; t hJy hava not tnken the course they should have done , am in 
any case it would be of no v a lue to - the c ourt , rhn ts()ever t o have these 
depositions put in at this stago . 

With regard to Major Mt.l.nr0 ' S po int, he c onnot have i t both ways . 
Either t hey go in for a ll purpose s or they d ') not . 

Copta in Corbally was c ompl a ining that someone did not i dentify 
s omconG in the dock . If that goes in you will be able to l 'Jak at the 
photographs and consider thorn vr ith the witness ond say: ";jo have n ovo[ got a 
vary valuable piece of evidence against some partic ular :nan, if you think 
that is a fair repre sentation of t he man, and you may well undorstand why 
t he witness d id not i dentify him tod ay _ ' That i:.:; a risk which ho has goJ,; to 
take if ho wants them in. 

I am not surprisod that Majo r Munro supports, on general lines, 
~y view that the Defence should no t be allavrod to cut their CNm throatS. 

TEE JUOOE hDVOCATE: I think, sir, you , rill want t o consider this ve ry short ly, 
but I f ee l I ought to add sormthing to what I have already said. 

You and your mombers have taken an oath to try ;those accusod 
accord ing t 'J the e videnc e , and the only evidence that you con have beforo 
you, as I s ee it, is the evideme of witnesses in the witness box or 
doc umentary evidence which i s properly put before you. I do not sec how you 
can de al with any documents which are not before you as exhibits . I d0 not 
sce haw you can dea l with any evidenc e Which has not been ~iven to you 
through verba l testimony by a duly SVlo rn witness. 

I a8,Te(.} tha t the Defending Officers, if they wanted to question 
a witmss who gave evidence on oath, should have questioned him when he was 
here, and I do not sec t hat they would have been limited in any way to 
asking any . questions about staterronts they had made before, am on that, if 
they had got the right answers, t hey c ould -have founded any s ort of argument 
as t o the unre liability of those particular dopositions, and thon 3rguod 
from that tha t the Who l e system of taking depositions was not soun:1 , and 
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t4erefore, in the cases where thJy could not cross-cxamino anybody at e.ll _ 
because it Was merel y a document, they would nsk the Court to pay loss 
Height to that particular document becauso ef t:w Yvay in which these 
documents as El whole had beon taken. That seems to me common-sense. 

\ 

Let us assume that the Defending Officers did miss their opportunity. 
What troubles mo is: Are you then entitled to say, having ragard to this 
Regula1iion - this. is the point, I think , v/hich Captain Phillips is taking -
that although it is n rr\'l possible te have the w'itnossos back and cross-ex8llline 
them, they can use this Regulation 8 nnd say: "Wo wade to put in Cl specific 
affidavit which is not before you because it is a document which can be so 

TlB 

put before you in evidence umo r £(o::~ulation 8 and we want to comment upon it" . 

It seems to me the short point is this: Are you go illb to s~y that 
you cannot allow such affidavits to go in? If you do then that is t:w cnd 
of it . On the other ham, if you s ay: "No, we arc prepared to nllO'if the 
Defending Office rs to nttack the system under which the affirJavits Y{ere 
taken, and wc are go ing to e.llow them to put in as documents acJmissibl(; undt:r 
Regulation 8 affidavits Which have never been before the Court ,"then that 
is a matter for your c onsideration. ' 

I should suggost youclo.:;e your Court.and consider what you arc 
go in2 to do in regard to this application. 

PRESIDENr : The Court is closed. 

(.At 1250 hours the COlJxt is closed~ 
~.t:"t 1 337 hours the Cf)urt Dd j ourns • 
At 1430 hours the Court reopens . ) 

('1.:ho Dccused. arc again brought before the Court) • 

THE JUDGE aDVOCi~E : Just boforo the adjournment the Court listened to El IG~al 
argument addressed to them and they have n~{ had an opportunity of 
considering it~ and they ask me t o tell you what they feel about it. 

If there arc any witnesses YJho save evidence in this Court personfllly 
and they were cross-cxamincd in re[-; [;rd t o affi davits that they had made , and 
those affid avits Vle re not put in evic:cnec , tho Court will allow any Defendil1f; 
Officer to put in such an affidavit if he wishes during the course of his 
Defence, for the purposes of establishin.<j thJ manner in which these affidavits 
may have be en take n . 

On the other hand, the Cour t feel that in the case of n vfitness 
who ~avc evidence in person and who was not cross-cxamincc.: at all in regard 
to an affidavit , that they should not naw admit such an affidnvi t because, in 
their view, it wo uld c arry no we i ,sht with them at all unless it was nccolTB?anicd 
by a cross-examination of the witness so thnt they could appreciate exactly 
what her evidence would be in regard to the takine of that affk1avit. 

I think that ought to make it quite clear to the DOfond inr, Officcrc, 
and when they Como to ask. to put in a deposition they ~-{ ill no Cl oub t irrl ica te 
why they wish to do so . 

Now, sir, I think the position was that Major Cranfield desired to 
tender in evidence some affidavit . 

1vWOR ORtJ\lFIELD: I think in vicvv of t hat dcc i8ion I y;i11 t0nder the af£'idavH8 
not noVv but later on in too Do:fonoe of my four Dccl.u':ed , s ,O that I hCV0 all 

opportunity of deciding which ones aro. T~miJ;siblO ;under tho C<.HU-l,' S rlll:in,f!,. 
In tha t event, that is all tho ovidenco I have in tho CA.Sv ef the accusbd 
Grese . 
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With your :per:nission I would now like . to say a fe,w words about 
the d cfence of the accused Lothe and the a ccused Lohbauer, who I 2.2l1 

taking together. 

The accused Lothe and the accused Lobauer vyere both prisoners 
at both Auschwitz and Belsen, e~ployed by the Germans in offices on 
authori ty over other prisoners . Lothe was e:nployed as a kapo in charge 
of working parties and Lobauer was employed as an arbictsdienst, which is 
the person respmnsible for t clli n~ off the working parties at the bcgim1i~1g 
of the day when the parties go off to their work. . 

Now they will both tell you that they were appointed to thos e 
posi tions and that they had no choic e; in the matter at all. They are 
charged here on both charges with co:n.:nitting a war cri~ne at both Auschwitz 
and Be Isen, and I want to SUggOLt an analogy to their position. 

The Court will rC':'lcmbcJ:' the occasion when 5b R. A. F. officers 
were shot by the Germans for breaking out of a prisoner of,.war camp. That , 
in :rr.y submission, was a war cri!nc. In that camp there was a senior 
Bri tish officer exercising authority over the other British officers in 
the camp, liais ing vath the Ger.m~1S on their' behalf and obviously 
facilitating the control of t he other officer prisoners of War for the 
German a'.lthori ties . 

Now a war cri."11e was co;;~~"1i tted by the Ger.ma.11S at that camp. 
This Eri tish officer wo.S holding a pos ition of authority wer his fellow 
prisoners und er the ap:point~ont :1D.de by the Gennan authori ties . At 
Auschwi tz thuse two accused were <lppointed by the Gennan authorities into 
positions of authority over thoir fellow prisoners . It is alleged that 
a war crime took place at Auschwi tz . Could it be held that the sonior 
British officer a t this prisoner of war ca"11p was responsible for a V~.r 
crir.le of the German au thorities in shooting 50 R. A. F. offic ers ? 

Now the evidence against the accused Lathe is contained in the 
evidence of two vntnesses who hnvo beon called Gryka artd Rozonwayg, and 
the affidavit of ano ther younf v{w'lan, Watinik. 

The Court has heard hOY1 the accusation against Lothe arose at 
Belsen in June of this year; hovv these three young women met Lothe in 
the ca"Ilp; how it C&:10 o.bout that 2. charge was put in, and I do not propose 
to go into that 2 .. l1Y further now, but t ,hat i s the charge which Lothe has 
to moet and the only one. 

In the incident a lleged she i s s tated to have beon out with the 
accused Grese and, at the request of Lothe the accused GrGse is said to 
have set her dog on a prisoner. You have heard the a ccused Grese deny 
the incident; you h..'we heard other wl.tnesses , both for the l).Jfenc e and 
the Prosecution, say t hat the a ccused Grese never had c. dog a t Auschwitz. 

Lothe 'will go into the ' ii:tncss box ::ll1d tell you the accusation 
is untrue. She will tell you that she was nover on an outside working 
party vdth Grese. 

Two of the Prosecution ';;ri tnesses Li twinsk<l and Lasker, have 
spoken well of Lothe. I do not ask the Court to pay very much att~ntion 
to what the wi tneas Li twinska says becaus e it is. rn.y cnsa that her 
evidence, together with the other Prosecution witnesses of her type, is 
unreliable f~ om beginning to cnd, fu.d if it unreliable against the 
accused, then it is unrelio.ble for tho a ccused. 

I sho.ll a lso put in documentary evidence, an affidavit by a 
wo:;nan called 3ialek. There again, I do not ask the Court to p ay very 
much attention to it. In my opinion it is no better, no worse, than 
the rest of the affidavits , but I ~~re say it will act as a counterweight 
against t he a ffidavit of Watinik. 
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The other Prosccuti on witnoss who spoke we~l of Lothe wr:..s. 
A~ta LGsker, o.nd I do ask the Court to pay some attention to what she 
said. In !I\Y view she is a fe.r ::-.:lore reliable; vii tness than the rest of 
the young women who ca't!le forward to testify for the Prosecution. 

With rog['Xd to Lobauer, I would only D.sk the Court to notice 
that all the serious charges against· Lobauer are docu:nentary. Evidence 
given against her by the live vritnesses who Ca't!l8 here does not emount to 
11 v ery great deal. More of them bad nothing to s;:yy against her than 
the few who did put in an accusati:m, and you ~ll seo Lobauer in the 
box. She Will deal with the specific o.llegations agc.inst her, and in 
particul a r she will deal vrith tho s tory, of the women in the water, vvhich 
a't!lounts to a cha r ge of murder, and she will tell ' you what she has to say 
about t hat. 

I will now called the Qccused Lathe. 

THE ACCUSED lLSE LOTHE b.kos her stand Qt the 
place from which the other witnesses have given 
their evidenc c, and having be en duly sworn is 
examined by MAJOR CRAl\lFIELD as follows: 

Q Is your full name 11se Lathe ? A 11so Loth. 

Q Were you born on the 6th :November, 1914 in Erfurt ? A Yes . 

Q Are you unmarried ? A Unmarried. 

Q Will you t ell the Court what work you were doing in 1939 ? 
A I was directed to work in a munition f actory and because I refused to 
do so I was put in a concentra tion camp. 

Q 1JIThat were you doing before you were directed to the 8Jrrmunition f e.ctory ? 
A I was working in El shoe factory. 

Q Why did y::m r ofuse t o go t o the [·..:rmuni tion f o.ctory ? A 
have to take the trnin every mOrni1'1g to go t o this factory . 
it, and I refused it. 

Q Which concentration ca~ did you s O to ? A Ravensbruck. 

Q How' l ong did you stay thero ? A March, 1942. 

Q What happened then? 
A March, 1942, to Ausc~,vi tz . 

Q Which part of Auschwitz ? 

I should have 
I did not like 

A Flor four weeks in Auschwi tz No. 1, thon outside kommando to Budin. 

Q IV hero vro.s Budin ? 

A About 7 kilometr cs frO!il Auschwi tz . 

Q What happened there? 

A All sorts of diggir.g., constructing a ~n, n sort of dyke . 
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Q. il.lld how 10TlG were you there? A. J une 1943 . 

Q. ynier e did you go then? A. Berkemu. 

\j . How long w'er e you there? A. Up to February 1944 I was working in 
the caJ.lp a nd then in February I becaDe a kapo. 

Q. When you becar,1Q a kapo which koLlTJando were you in? A. No . 6. 

Q. Vrha t did that consis t of? A. 100 Hungarian Jewesses . 

Q. How lonG were you in t hat kor:'::~1anllo? A. For four r,lonths; then tha t 
. kOLTt:.nndo "vas dissolved and I got another ' one. 

Q. What ,vas that onc? A. Anti-aircraft 305. 

Q. What did that consist of? A.. 50 Hungarian Jewesses. 

Q. What vvas the yrork that kOi:1i:;lD.ndo dicl? 
~os itions for SUlLS . 

A. We buil i.; . bunkers a nd prepared 

Q. Hmv long wer e you there? 1~. Up t o NovcT,1ber 1944, a nd then I so t a nother 
kor:"li.111.ndo , Via ter works , 1 07. 

Q. What did 107 consist of? A~ 30 Hungarian Jcv{Css es . 

Q. What happened after that? ill Then the COLlI.andant t ook mvay ray an:1l c t 
alid put ae int o a ;:)Unish:,cnt cOT.l'Jando callccl Vistula ; cOLllnandant Kra us e 
took a,vay illy arr,llot and I came to a punism~ent kor~.1ando callcd Vistula. 

Q, Do you Llean that you were not any longer a kapo'? A. Y cs , in Deceuber . 

(J. Hmy long were you' in that }lunishnent kor.1ii1a ndo? A. Up to January 1945. 

Q. What happened then? A. Then we went to Rav ensbruck. 

Q. Why die.. you go to Ra vensb ruck? A. Our des tina tion "vas . Grossros en, but 
that Clli~p was overcrowded and so we continued to Ravcnsbruck. 

Q. How long were you there? A. Feur weeks . 

Q. Where did you go after that? A. In the beginning of fIarch a t ransport 
of pregnant ' WOi'.'len vms sent to Belsen, I ~ycnt vvi th them. 

Q. Ca n you r er,leE1ber the c~at e "imen you a rrived. at Belsen? 
5th March. 

A. The 4th or 

Q. At Belscn were you a kapo? A. Y()S , for three weeks I was ill, but then 
aftervvards I becarile a kapo in the vef;eta-::>le COliTGando . 

Q. \That did that kOrilWanclo consist of? "'~~ Mostly Russians. 

Q. Were ther e any other rlD. tionali ties? A. 11.. few Hunt;arian J ewesses , a f ew 
p olish Jewesses. 

Q. How l::Ja.ny, can you rememb er? A. 140, sometlllies 120. 

Q. Now I vvant to :~o back to F ebruary 1941+ 'when you firs t became a kapo. 
Will you tell the court hoy{ you Clli"J.e to be appointed a kapo,? 

11... We were on parade i n -the morning and the arbiensdientsfuhrer, the r.mn 
who ',?as in ch,ElrGe of the workins parties , he '.vcnt a long and l ooked a t 
us , and suddenly he ~aid,: "You vvill take over from t omorrow on this. 
kODL111.ndo" , ana. that is how I bee lli:lC kapo ; I could not do anything about 
it. 
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Q. 'Were you a Sl\:(:;Q i f you yvu.ntc '.1 t o ".Jccoi,le Q kQ~,)o? ./.~. No, there '1ms no 
question about Qsking, and there wa s no question about refusing, because 
if wc would have done so it 'Ivould have l~leant refusing work, and that means 
25 strokes. 

Q. Now you have heard the allegations ~nde of striking. I v~ntto ask you 
about Auschwitz. Did you at Auschwitz carry any kind of a weapon? A. No . 

Q. Did you carry a stick? l~. No. 

Q. Have you ever struck a prisoner? A. I have never bqaten anybody with 
Q stick, but sometir,les I slapped their faces during distribution of 
food to keep order. 

Q. Have you ever l~cked a WOwQn down a nd kicked her on the ground? A. No. 

Q. Do those answers apply equally to Belsen? A. Yes . 

Q. At Auschwitz where did your kOr.'lElandos 'work? A. No. 6 worked at Budinj 
the anti-aircraft koiilil1anclo there I ym.s driven in a truck for an hC!ur away 
froill the camp, and 107 vrorked very near to the camp. 

Q. Apart frcrl1 the anti-aircraft kon~nndo what kind of work were they doing? 
A. I;o. Butin \ we were doing drainage vmrk, and in 107, the wn. ter works , there 

, we carried sanc1. and s tones into the water. 

Q. Viha t did komrnandoNo. 6 do? A. Drainage. 

--- --..... 

Q. Whil e the prisoners were working out of the cmtip were they allowed to speak 
to civilians? A. No , they were not allowed to do so , it '1ms prohi bited, 
but they did speak with civilia ns . 

Q. Was this work on lcoi'Ji-.nndos unpleasant for the prisoners? 
unpleasant - they did not like the work but they had to. , 

A. Well , 

Q. Now you hearc1. about the selection PQrades for the Gas chruuber. Did you 
ha ve anything to do with those? A. No , whenever a selection appel took 
place all the kapos were concentrated in one block and it was strictly 
ptohibi ted for thcr,l to l eave that b lock durinG the time. 

Q. Did. any of your kODr.1Qndos :work inside the Berkenau car.}p? A. No . 

Q. When did the komrinndo leave the caup in the itiornin[, and when did it come 
back at ni;~t? lu 0700 hoUrs in the Dorning Qnd 1800 hours back; 

Q. Now you spoke just now of a punishu cnt of 25 stokes. 
punished by the political department a t l.usch..-ri tz? 

Q. Hmy tinny tim,es? A. Tnree tiincs . 

Have you been 
A. Yes . 

Q. Can you rerl1eDber what the -:)UnJ..sh~cilts were for'? l'..!t Yes, 

Q. Tell the court , first of all, for \/hQt' r OQson you were punished on those 
.t:hrce occasions. A. Thc first tUJe because I SlllUggled a letter out of 
the camp. The soconc. tlile 'boeause I burned bed boards , the boards of the 
beds - I iinc1e a fire of then - a nc1. the third tir.lC [.l ecause we organised 
some, food and sone smokes for us , ciGarettes. 

Q. Will you tell the court vvi"la t the punishment was a.nd how it ,vas carried out? 
li. The fir~t tirac , becaus e of the letter, I got 25 strokes on it is called, 

Stalin- Schallkel, the balance of StQlin, and it is done in this way : the 
block COitieS betvveen LW knees and ray tYm hands were also tied, and I was 
sYf.ringing to and fro ' and 'was beaten froD both sides. It was a sort of 
balanccand always wi'len I swing froD. one sidc to the other I got a stroke; 
tllat was 25 strokes . 
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(1. Vlbat were you beaten' with? 

A. Two S . S. nen. 

Q. Have y ou heard of other bpos l)e inJ ~,unished in this ,ray? A. Yes . 

Q. Was this the offieia.l punishl.lent fo r nisbehaviour? A. In ·the beginning 
Berlin YIaS a sked o.nc1 [!,av e the (lecis io11.. La ter on onc ilid not bother 
to a sk Berlin for it and the political department itself rJac1e thc 
dccision a nd. t hey did. wha t they lil:.:cd to do. 

'J. NO,f I vvant to a.sk you abou t the accusations r.1ade a eains t you here by thc 
. witnesses RozenwaY8 a nd Trieger. Uhen those two WOli1en canG into 
court did you r ecognisc thOI:l? . .t~. No. 

'2. Were they eve r in your kOi.1Do.mlo? J.'~. No. 

Q. Do you t hink that if they rod b e en in your k OLll.iando you would have been 
abl e to reco[£11.ise theLl't ~l. Certainly. 

Q. Have you ev er been out of car,1p with your kOLnando with the accused Grese? 
ll-. I have never "vvorlcecl vii th Grcse in the S81j,10 kOL1Lando. 

'2. When you t ook your kor;LJando out to work did you have an S. S. guard? 
A. 'vvith kOli'K1D.nd No . 6 I had t·wo S. S. 2:ua.rds . 

Q. Wer e they WOd en? :1.. S. S. nen. 

¥.1i'..JOR CRANFIELD: Novr, Sir, I aD Going to sto.rt on the spccific alleg,ations. 
The f irst one is Ra zenvmYG, voluDe 10, paGe 17. (To the Wit ness ) A 
wi tn0ss Clli;1e into court a nd said tha t on a. kor.ll.lo.ndo you tol d thc accused 
Gre s c to set a dog on t o her, thc witness , a nd the doG then bit her • . Is 
that true? A. First this witness speaks about 'the date July 19L~3 . 
At t})8.t tii.:le J would have ncver thouGht of beconing a J.r...apo at all. 
Secondly, I have ncver worked with Gr e s e in t he saEle kom:1.1ando o.nd , thirdly , 
if Rozemvayg ,rould evor have worked in uy kOii1Eundo I would certainly have 
recosnised hur. 

Q. Is tl)8. t a ccusation untrue ? A. COL'!.l' l e t ely unt ruc. 

(.J. The 'In tncs s wont on '1:;0 -:;o.y that you hit a. girl callcd Wiedlctz a b l ow, 
knocked her c:'ow-n. a.nd kicked her on the Ground. L.. Not true. 

MAJOR CRl..NFIELD : Sir, I a.T.l goinG on nOil to the vii tness Gryka, volur.1e 14, 
page 10. I .:.u:l goine t o put the Rochl a Grunymlcl accusation to he r . . 
(To the vd tness) i~ 'In tne ss C8.;·,10 here flnd a lle,3;ec1 that on a kOIJr;lando one 
day when a ,yo;:lo.n Rochla Grurr,vald ,mnted t o So to the latrine you hit 
her on her head viith a stick , as a r esult of vvhich the WOL1al1 fainted. 

.;.i.. Not true . 

Q. Will you look a.t the a ffidavit No. 169, Sonio. watinik. 
paragraph 2. Can y ou rewembcr any incident like that? 

Will you read 
A. No. 

Q. Were y ou a kapo durin~~ the S1..ll:'h.1cr of 19~3? 
b ec.o;·ilins a kapo. 

1>-. In 1943 I never thou ght of 

() . I vm.nt you to r ea.d pLtl:'8.graph 5. I m.1 ~oin3 t o lcav c ou t paragraph 3, 
beca use I havo alreaay put trat once. What do you say about paragra.:ph 5? 

A. I neve r had a stick; I never ~.:.cat sODoboCly until he fell clOYffi and yms 
unconscious a nd nO~jody rod t o go because of r,lC into block No. 25. 

Q. Do you rer.1ember 4:;he occasion when you were arrestecl o.t Belsen? A. Yes .. 

Q. Will you t ell the court . how it happened? A. On the 22nd June I vval ked through 
thc cru.~ with a Polish J ewes s . Wc pa.sscd six or seven Polish Jewesses. 

'They startcd shoutinG at r,le , a nd. they sa id: "Tha.t is a kapo from iluschwitz" , 

32. 
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but for the rest t hey did not do anything, tl'~ey just let me walk on. 
1.s I had gone a b i t f urther on I t urned round. I saw two British soldiers 
t a l king to these six or seven WO!:len asking them. 'what had been goine on. 
These Polish Jewesses shouted: "I t i s a kapo from Ausc1TI"Ii tz", and the n 
the British soldiers calleq. ne back. The British soldiers a sked me for 

TJ.y papers and s a id I had to go with thel"J. to t he office to a British officer. 
These Polish Jewesses accoDpanied De to the police a nd, well , they had to 
say somethin.e; about DC. J;; believe in the ,,1eanti me they had Ela.de a fantasy 
about this story. 

Q. Is the story told by t he s e three, Rozenwayg, Gryka a nd Watimk true or 
untrue? 1~ It i$ untrue . 

MAJOR CRL'JITPIELD : l' have no f urther Clues tions. 

N1AJOR YfINWOOD : No Cluestions . 

M100R WJNRO: No Cluestions . 

C'/lPT. ROBERTS: No Cluestions. 

C1H. BROWN : No Clues tions . 

ClIFf . F IELDEN: No Clues tions . 

CllPT. CORBALLY: No Clu es tions. 

C .. \PI'. NEA VE: No Clues tions. 

Cross-examined by Cly:'T . PHILLIPS. 

C"~. PHILLIPS: I have a Cluestion t o a sk on behalf of No.37 , Herta Bothe. 
(To the witne ss ) CQn you tell r:1e 'wha t duties the vege to.b le kODuando did 
a t Belsen? A. We t ook the veget,:;.i) l eso:nc:' the potatoes frol!l the pl a ces 
'whe re they y,-ere stored to the y~ tchcn. 

Q. VIas ther e a ny S. S. r,len or war,len supervisinG it? 
an d one S. S. lL1"ln. 

A. Y~s ,twq aufseherin 

Q. Ix:> you know the nmues of t:-l.0 a ufsehc.:rin? lie Yes . 

Q. What a re they? A. Lehmann, Friedrich a nd Lisiewitz (No.42). 

Q. DDdyou know 1'10 . 37 (Herta Bothe ) a t Bel sen? 
the wood store s; 

A. Yes , she YffiS -vmrking at 

Q. Did she ever h:,wc a nything t o do vvl.th your vGset able kOr,liilando? 
yd th rJ.Y lcor.n,-,anuo. 

Cr oss- exlli:1ine d by LT. BO~. 

.A .• Not 

- .," I 

LT. BOYD : I -want t o ask a Cluesticm about No. 42 (Hilcle Lisievii tz). (TO the 
wi tness) You have tol c.:' us that Lisievd tz 'worked oID this v,egetab le korrllmndo. 
'When do you say that was? A. On the firs t day of' .Ea s t er. 

Q. Ix:> you knov[ what elat e that 'vvas ? 1~ . No , I could ' not; t e ll. 

{). VThich Y0ar is thi s? 
of A~-;ril. 

:~. 1945. It was the end of Ma~ch or the beginning 

LT. BOYD: I aE1 toll~ it is the 1 st April. (To the wi tnoss) Did she work 
the whole of that day on this kO!.1rtl[ljlclo? A. No , shortly" bef ore noon she 
went avmy because shc felt ill. 

'J. Is that the only titue you have s een her on this koa:.1ando? 
tir,lC I was in this kOliBando, yes. 

33. 
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~ On this day 'was she carrying a stick? A. No. 

Cross -cxaJ~1ined by C:!\P.&J.I ,lroNro. 

CAPT. MUNRO: .1 want to ask a few questions on behalf of J ohannc Roth (No. 43). 
(To the Yfitness) Did you know block 199 in Bel sen?A. Yes . 

Q. Did you ever livc in that ;) l ock? A. I ha ve not been living in this 
b lock, but c1urin~~ the peri od of .".y illness I went to this b lock for some 
(b.ys ev cr'J day to s ee the 1)10ckalt8ster. 

12. Do you know a nybody iI;1 b l ock 1 99 call~o. 1ela Fr e i c1nan? A. Yes . 

(~. Wha t na tionali ty vvns she? A. I believe a Polish Jewess. 

Q. 'When di(l you last sce IdrJ. l!'reid.:.1an a live? A. Ten days after the arrival 
of the British troops I went to the hospita l as a nurse and there Ida 
Freid:na.n VI3.S taken to the hospi t a l. 

:]. Do you know why she vras in hospital? ' A. I believe she had typhus. 

(2. Dic1 you know a nybody else in block 199 by the rJ.[U".le of Ida Freidr.lan? 
A. N0. 

LT. JEDRZEJOWICZ : No questions. 

Cross-ex~nined by COL. BAC~10USE. 

Q. To c1eal with the l a st thing firs t. You say t he Ida FreidriJan you know 
vras a Polish J eWBSS ? A. Yes . 

Q. That vrill not be the Slliile onc toot Ehlert knows , who was a Frehchwor,1an? 
A. I think it was the saJ'ile, ;)ecause she used t o come to the b lockaltester; 

we use c1 to talk vdth her and s he very of ten went to Ehlert for to 
tell the cards , partly for fortune telling. 

q. WIn t l a nguace did she use to t e ll the cards in? A. She talked Gerraan. 

~J . Surely/ you coulcl t e ll vmethcr she .... vas '£<'rench or Police froLl her acc ent , 
could not you? A. No. I only know the b locka ltestcr once told me 
th~t she vras a Polish Jewess . . 

I']. Who iiTaS the bloekal t cs t er? 1,. Her nlli~1C vras Franken. 

) e 'Vas she 0_ fr~end. of yours ? A. No. 

Q. Vlha t did you keep :.:;oil13 to see her for? A. In our b lock there Yfa S a 
Gcn~1an Girl who useol t o Co to her, a n c1 durinG the time I vras ill shc used 
to t ake ne 'with her. It was in t he tLle that I -.,{as conval escing. 

(} . About how ,iUny wtDen werc there in the b l ock? A. 600 or 700. 

q. Do you know the ru::G1CS of ?-ny of t he others? A. Yes . 

Q. How r:J8.ny? A. Only a .f'evr girls ,{ho YT(.;re boing in ':1Y kor.i:UJ.nClo El. t . Aus chwi tz.. 

, ~ . Was Frei&l8.n over in your ko~ili.Janc1o. a t Auschvd tz? A. No. 

Q. VTho havo you 1;)C£11 s~lD.rin::; a r OOEl vri th whilst you have b een here i n 
Luneburg? A. I . ar.1 a lono. 

,~ . By yourself? 1.'1. Yes , I have a cell to mys elf. 

Q. Tell me. V'lhen you first went to Ravensoruck ,how were you treated? A. We 
were treatec1 ve~ badl y . 

34. 
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". \-iere you bea ten t~1ere? A. Th~re was . not ' very much bea tine i n 
Ravensbruck, but they used to set the dogs on USe 

Q. Who us ed to set the dogs on you there? 
i~rking parties outside the cruup. 

A. The aufseherin who had tbe 

Q. Because Ravensbruck v-vas where a ll thes e S. S. wonen went to l earn their 
j ob , was not it? A. I cannot t ell that. I only know that in Ravensoruck 
a l l aufseherin had a dog a nd a pistol . 

, ~. Bomum told us that she l earned her vmrk there; Volkenra th learned her 
work there ; Ehlert l earned. her 'work there; erese l earned her work there" 
That is right ? A. I have no t s een Volkenrath in Ravens1Jruck. Ehlert was 
in charge of a block. I have s een ijoTI:lan with a dog, a nd I do not knew 
Gres e from Ravensbruck~ 

~J. Tell T!le about when you car,lO t o Auschwi tz. How were you treated there'? 
A. Very badly. 

(1. You have told us tha t the working party worked 11 hours a dayo How YTere 
you fed? A. Durin8 the tll,le I Yfas a t Butin the food 'was very bad; we 
hD.Q one litre of thin SOU]? a nd our l)read I'D. tion. 

Q. War Butin at arbietslager, or Yfhat was it? A. Yes , a n arbietslager~ 

Q. Vfuo 'was in charge of it vmen you were t here? A •. It was a kOE11i1andofuhrcr 
called Schlager . 

Q. Is that his nar!le or descripti on of Dll!l? 

'le HoYJ were you t r eat ed there ? A. Very bD.dly; he ~Jeat us very l:mch. , 

Q. Are you sure that was his real name a nd not a nick-nawe? 
. his rea l na::-,le . 

L. Yes , it wan 

i~ . Ylere there some aufseherin there? A. Not in the f irs t )erioc,. 

Q. Were there SOine kD.pos? 1 .... Yes. 

Q. How di d they treat you? .I:". Yvell, they had t o obBy the orders of the 
kO::1:,lanccofuhrer a nd if they did not do it they vwre punished thenselves • 

• 
Q. How ilid they troa t you 'Vias what I asked. A. They a lso bca t us, b ut no t 

so often; 'but if they had the orderS' of the l~;Oi'lDal'ldofuhrer they :1ad to 
do it. 

~. You had a very bad t:i.r~e the r e indeed, did not you? A. Yes . 

Q. Then you car,le into Berlml1.au in JUl'l0 of 194-3? A. Yes . 

Q. How were you or!l,?loyod i n Ber kenau? A. I was in the tJasonry ko:mh1£.ndo" 

Q. What were you building? .il.. We built the new parcel store and we ~~epalred 
the floors of so~e of the b locks. 

Q. 'What were they? Concrete floors? .£l.. :Made of bric:cs. 

Q. The floors wore :Jade of b rick? A. Yes . 

(d. And you say you stayed at that vfOrk unt i l you becaDe a lcapo? A. YeE. 

Q. Now you were a kapo in kOll1!~1ando No. 6. 
in Dutin, on drainage; is that right? 

You say you were working t her e , 
A. Yes . 

Q. Did you live a t Butin or (lid you fP to a nd fro night and i-aorning'? 
A. We went to and'fro every day. 
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(2. Can you rene.Dber who the S-llaro: -na.s <'i,S., YOU,~-ee- and fro? 
knov. their xwmes. 

tJ. Did they have dogs? A. No. 
d' 

,;] . Did you Il1arch that distance? .Li. Yes. 

' ]. i1.nd the work you wer e do~ng there was digging, you say? 

A. I do not 

A. Yes . 

Q. Digging and draining ? 
the r est of the vrork. 

A. Y8S , we dlilg the ,trenches and the ;:lcn j'18.de 

'.]. What period was i t that you had these three punishulent5 vihils t you were 
a t Auschwitz? -iihen did you have t hat f irst punislL1ent , the beating you 
have told us about? A. I was not a kn.po for a long tii-.1e then; it r:ay 
have been April 19Lf4-. 

(J. What were the other ,' two punisn-.lents you had? You never told us about 
those. The one for burning the becl boards, vlba t did you get for 
that? A. I was put under arrest first and then I had 25 strokes with 
the stick. 

'1. 'i'I'hcn you say you were put under arrust first , what do you Dean by that? 
.A. I W'd.S put under arres t fi rs t and thun they t ook; me to the poli tica.l 

departr[l.ent and t her e I received my 25 strokes. 

Q. What do you mean by t he vvords "put under arrest "? A. That wa s a kind 
of building, a ce ll, ivhe re every~)o(]y YVclS put who yms under arrest, and 
we r eceived food every third day. I was t h .;r e e i ght days . 

; ~ . Did you ever have any sort of tri a l? j". No. 

(~ . Now the third tir.le when you were punished for organising some food and 
SOEle cigarettes . A. I VfaS broul!)1.t to the :901i tica l deparb.lent. 
There they made enquiries how a nd whe r e frol..-I I got the food and the 
cigarettes, and. then I was punished with 25' strokes ".Jecause I bartered 
wi th m:ivilia ns . 

Q. You have tol cl us that you had a very "Jac, tir,le a t Butin. What was it 
like 'iv-hen you ca;...-Ie back to Berkenau when you were 'Norking on this 
b uilding. 

1\.. It vlJ'as not a s bad as in Butin. 

tJ . Were people ever beat en in Berkenau? A. Yes. 

:~ . By both the aufs eherin a nd kapos? A. I believe all aufseherin 

did beating and the kapos, if necessary, as well. 

Q. VVhich l ager were you in? A. Camp B. 

,}. Was Volkenra th in charge then? A. She \~ in charge 

of the parcel office. 
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Q Was Grese thore then? A. At the tirro when I was thore I did not see her. 

Q Did you ncrver sce her all the time you wore thero? J... I SEN/ Grese only 
for the first tinic when I became a kapo am when she stood at the gate. 

Q What was she doing at the gate? 
spmobody. 

A. , I SaW her only when she Was talking to 

Q Were . not your kommandos composed of Hungari an Jewesses all the timo you were 
a kapo? A. Yes. 

Q Was not Grese in charge of the camp in which tho Hungar ian Jewesses wcre? 
A Grese was in camp "0"; '.Ye Were in camp "B" . I hod nothine to do with camp "0". 

Q Grese did not go to camp "0" until about the"middle of 1941+. Did 'you never 
see hor before that? , A. I did n ot sce her. 

Q As a matter of fact were you not a kapo in the strafekommando which Was 
commanded by her for a time? A. No & 

Q I s UfEest to you that you workoo wiler her ari! that y'Ju beat people severely 
your self? A. I have novar worked with Gre se the re. 

Q The kapos had qui to a feN privileges, had not they? A. No; on the c ontrary 
wo were punished much IIbro scrverely than the others. 

Q You got more food, di d not you? A. No , wo had exactly the same rations as 
all the otho r pris oners • 

Q You had the distributi on if it, did n"t you? 
the blo'ek altester. 

A. Nevor the kapos" always 

Q Arit best of all you did not have t o GO on selectirms for the gas chomber, did 
you7 A. Yes, that is true, we nevcr had selections. 

Q If thero was a selection for the gas Chamber all the kapos wera sent into 
one particUlar block arit had to keep out of t he way " did not they? A. Yes, 
we had to stay in the block; it was p r ohibi te (~ to le ave the block. 

Q Were you sent there before the selection started? A. There Vv~S a sippal" 
there was a whistle bl'owing , and t hat meant that we had to 130 t o tho block 
mil stay there. 

Q Was that before the selection started? A. Yes . 

Q Oome back to this question of kommandos . You rcmember this ~irl Rochla 
Grunwald? A. No , I do not remember. 

Q Did you never sec her at all? A. No _ 

Q 

Q 

Q 

Do you say that when RozorYfayg and Gryka came into Court the other day you 
a id not even know them? 1.... I do not know them. 

Do not you -renumbor them getting you arrested at Bclscn" crven if you nover 
saw them before that? A. I d i d not l ook at them so closely at that time. 

Did not you even look at the people who were accusing you? A. They were 
shouting but I continued to go and then later on vd th the police they wore 
in anothcr room, not in the same room as I wos . 

They were shouting at you that it was impudent of you to ,be there at all 
because of the way you had treated them at Auschwitz, wore not they? A_fYCS. 

If thay were ne7er in y our konunando at all why do you think they should .I: ick 
on ynu? A. That day they never said they had boon working in my konuna 0 

arit in raali ty they nevor had worked in my konunando. ,_ 
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Q They said. y ou had beaten them and illtre.a:tcd -t.bcln. ,at .,Ausohvdtz.,. d id not 
they? A. One said that I had bo-aton hor sister, I- belicve ROz.cJ:]lv-ayg )..S 
her name , and then the British came. 

Q I suggest it was not "sister" she said l but her friend? 
I1 s istor l1 • 

A. No , she said 

Q I do not propose to put all this in detail again, it has all be on put, but 
I sugsest to you, you know, that you are not tel ling thc truth about this 
at all, that you in fact worked with Grese and those girls were tmder you 
arr} that you in f act did complain to Grese on the occasion when Gr ese sot.--, 
her doe on one of trem? A. And I repeat I havo never boon working with 
GrcBo together; it is a lie; .]: h£lve nevor been in that kommando . 

Q And I suggest to you that you beat Grunwalc1 about tbJ head with a stick to 
such an extent that she was takon away unoonscious and eventually died? 

A I do not know anybody by the namo of Grunvvald; I rovorhac1 a stick and I 
did not boat them . 

Q I suggest to yo u that the way in Yvhich youk9pt your position as a kapo 

.-- ..... ... 

was by beating? A. I have nevor boaten p eople with El stick; I had, bpaten. .. . 
them with my hands at the distributi ~n of f ood , or on such ocoasions . 

Q What I am ·suggesting to you, you k:hOVf , is this ; that to save 
you were prepared to fall in with this, system of b eatirJg a:ril 
prisoners' and t o do it yourself at t.he behest of the S. S. ? 
c ontrary I did not fa11 in with tha'!i policy, anc1, as a matter 
was beaten rrn.1ch more frequently bocauso I did not fall in. 

your own skin 
ill.treating 
A. On the 
of fact , I 

Q Why did you lose y,..,ur armlet? 
pocket . · 

A. Because I had a f<Mcigarcttes.. in; my 

on 
Q Where did y ou get them from? A. Wc organisccL it! outside work . 

Q And then you wore sent t o the- Yistula. kommamo, -wore you? A. Yes , 
, 

Q What 'Sas. -that .1 ike? A. Very bnd . 

Q How far did you havo to march,J'rom . ·tl1O opmp? •. .A • . Aboutthreo-qun.r+-ors-.<J.\ 
an hour ' .s march • . 

QWhat sort of a r 'l ad WaS it? 
path. 

A. A bad r oad; through the fields, a .field 

Q Were thoro S. S. guards with you? A. :F'olicc, am apaX't from that thrde 
S . S . guards with dogs. 

Q What worothe dogs used for? A. They oeno with us . 

Q What wero thoy really usod for? 
esoa~a , OT s Oll',othillg .. 

A. Probably W'hGn p :t"isonox's tried to 

Q Just 'liston, to the cl.1ll3a.+.ion ani do YOtu"solf' ju .. c;i;ioo . Wh;:>1;' wore those (l(t..gs. 

used for? A. When a priSoliBt· .·tl'iet1 to eso ape or on the way · --~- . 

q It was jus-tthe 'same as Ravons-biL'Uck, MA-ill, was not it? A. The three 
.dogs were not with us; they were r ourii tho'Wor1ch>g kolTJlllamo . 

Q 

Q 

You got as f!3r as "on the way"; now finish that sentenoe . Wb,9:·t; were those 
dogs used for on the\"8y? A. When he triod to cscnpo on the way. 

They were used to roundup straggl ers" were not they?" A. No , the 
guard s wont in front of. the workil",G party and not bohmd them. 

Were not there some nt the back with the guards? A. In the korrnnando 
Vistula those three . gu~s with 0..0138 were alvfays in front , 
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Q That seems a vary odd place to be if you want to stop pc.Dplo -esoaping be,hinc1 
y')u, is not it? 1 .... ,The police were in ,the baak . 

,Q Did you have ,'a very steep hill to go up on the way? A. Yes . 

Q A lot of these women were very weak, were not they? 
• 

A. Yes • 

Q Did not they find it very difficult to eet uP that, hill sometimes? A. Yes. 

Q' And were not they beaton up it? A. No;' it was a very big workipg party 
of 1,000 women ~n::1 when the first were on to}' of the hill thoy stayed and 
waited until the last arrivod . 

'Q And nobody Oncouragod thorn to hurry? A. The komman:1o fuhror was sometimes 
,furious ab out it ~f people wore slovv an<2- hej reprimanded them, and he may 
haVQ slappc.;d their faces , but there WaS no partioular boating; the people 
on top waited always until the others arrived. ' 

Q It must have been nicer then in that punishment konmanuo than in tw rest of, 
the camp? A. It "ras not vcry nice because it Was 'vintcr and it was very 
c old and wo had to work vcry hard. 

Q What happened to the Vi omon who did not work v~ry hard? 
beaten. 

A. They were 
./ 

Q Am who Was in charge , of that, kommando? b. . Weingartner,., 

Q No. 3 in the' dQck here? 'A. Yes, 

Q, We have net talked very much about thD seleptiohs for th:; .gas Chamber 
beoause you as a kapo were exo~ec1, but What usually happened to pregnant 
women at Auschvfi tz? . A. They wore scnt to the gas . 

,Q What used to happen to pregnant woman at Ravensbruck, wero truy sent to , 
AusolI)'li tz? A. I do not knovr; I only know that when I oame from RP.vonsbruck 
with this transport that was a transp0rt consisting of pregnant women, , 

Q Arrl they were Leing ,.aont to Balsen, were not they? A. Yes, those 36 
pregnant women who cene with me ol1mc to Belsen. 

Q And that Was as late as the beginnil:1£!; of M9.r6h? A. Yes. 

Q How lone; were you kapo of this vegetable kommanc1o? A. Froin the 25th)~aroh 
until the 14th APril. 

Q' Anl you were taking vegetables aul potatoes ab out from t-w stores to the 
kitchen, -~rcrc you? i... . Yes; not fr om the stor'es - they vvere in big piles 
a:t:rl ,from those piles Wo fetched them and brought them to the k itohen. 

Q Who Was the S. S. man Who supervised? ,A. I do not know his name ; it was -
an S.S. ~~uardj qvory d/?y they wore chanGed over. 

MAJOR C RANFIELD: Thoro Was a first answer . She said sorrothing f irst. . 
OOL. BACK,HOUSE: I said: ttWho was the S. S. p'uard 11 and she said: III do not know 

'\ l.") 

his name; it Was an S.S. Lward" . 

:MAJOR CRANFIELD: She said somethinG am toon tho. interpreter spoko to her 
again. 

THE I NTERPRETER: The ans-,ver Was: "It was an S.S. gUard which was chaneod over, 
every day; I do not know his name tt • ' ' , I 

COL. BAOKHOUSE: And you say that LisiC'\1itz was only pn, that komrna.ndo for tre 
one day? A. , Yos, 
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Q Do you l"o:rromber "a vvoman-rolled lD.maleh? A. No. 

Q She says that sh.e was o:1.e of the working party detailed t o oarry ve Gotables 
from thcs to::-e t o the kiJC';r..on. IldvY did 'chey oarry thom?' A . With a sort 

Q 

of oart; I had sevon carts under moo 

Hand carts? 
what sort of 

.1·~ . Vr() l~. , tr.QSc C8.1't:3 wo r e with 1 5 l)iecos; I do, not knQ'w 
T::L...J0J..3., p,:".CO:(J:'1~S (I 

Q 15 pi cces of priconc1' s'i' 

Q Do ~'ou mean they '!fO'-~C carts v:hicn the pris one rs pushed or 1)u11od? A. Pulled e 

Q Of !course you do not k~LOW 
came t o it or no" ,? J' , . 

W~'lo"0LG:t' ~.Jisicw i tz had bcon on this work befol:'C yoU' 
1 a 0 nc-: knovv ~ 

Q So all you r oalJ.;;' knrJIJ'T is th[l.t all you saw of hor actually on this job Was 
on Easter S1..trJrlay'? .:\. ., Y.)3 J I I'C);"DI!lbc r :that q 

Q Was Roth in f ac"c emtlQyerl irL bloe:i,_ 199'? A. Yes. 

Q Was she t.b,e ni ;,;bt 2n3.~·d "~~:c:r'C) ? L. }JCl, not night 2:uarc1 ; stubedienst , 

Q 

r espC'nsible 1'0::: th~:) r ;;cm - '':'0 r)'.1 (1'·],:: 1'2.:/0 

I just w:.1nt "cn ;, ek you E.bo'l,t H3rta Bo "c~c whom you mentioned. 
charge of p",3:r?I:\J.:ir.:.,: ' .'TOOa for <:;ho kHohcns , Was not she? A. 
with T'fly ,kornmm,c () to thG otl1T: Ci;: .. iC1> I SaW heX' standing there , 
knr:1Vl ~rec 

She was in 
When I went 

arrl I do not 

Q ' But sho waS ' stDred ~-;'1::; t 1-jcre b7 the \ i (lcc1 which was ready for bUl~ning ,_ waS n ot 
she? At 'dho"chc::" i t YTas ru _Id:, wJ.d j)roparod for burning I do no t 'knov<r . 

Q What s ort c:' vr:y Xl -;-{.',SL C t};r~Y1? ". ~Big br amho s of' a c ertain troo ; a p ino 
t roo whioh -.';0.8 brought ~. l1;. :"a:c"3c ~~r[:l.nches of pine trees brought in. 

Q Whp.t do :ou t h.ir':'~, +huy,,",m[:;cd brancLos of pinetroes in there 'for? 
t hey pre?a:,,'o d t:::.:. t f'o::.~ burni:'.D ,' 

A. Well,; 

Q Why on earth d'i.fi not you sn.y that 5_n the first placc when I a?\ked ' you what 
Was th0 ";rooct for? Vi}:> ,l"t; you ["t'o 'i..rying to do is t o avoid saying anything 
against the pc 0:..:>10 in ' ::;~le doe:c enl you are not oven tryinr; to think whero 
'the Q'lP stion lead s to? A, ~Jo , ::.. do I1lyt EXltoid o.nything and I havc no 
particul ~r ' 1"3go.:,013 :':' 0)7 :.mybody . 

Q When you cot .~ c BoJ.;'2'on yo U W8ro 1)1' omptly mado a kapo ar;ni n , vre re not you? 

, A 1 Was s iel': fo r th::o:: -,V\) ckfJ $'d t}-" ,1. tho obcraufsoporin :promotod me to kapo 

Q Which aui'sohe .r:!., :n.? 

, , , 

A. I do not know 

whether she h&.d ~:n:;::rr. IT,C. 
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And who:z;). yoU bec2!"!le a ka po in Bels0l:1, vrere t[l(; W"Omen, who W0re , working under 
you very very' weak -indeed? A No, I cci1~':.:)t say this . I had neSrly 
all Russi[ills und they were very strc>ng • . 

Q Did thoy r emain strong on the food 'th~y gat ? 
good in organisi ng. _ 

Q But YDU ,mrcaincd fairly strong, did you not ? 
good ~n orgc,nislllg. 

A The Rus8:)...'lnS~ we r o 

A I was also -qui to 

Q It was very ca..sy for a kapo, was it not?, A No, not"only, far ka.pos.; 
, i'or anybuc:w who wa.s" goo'd in orgahising, ho . OIOuld ,do 1tt . 

Q What ./,')ll reallY mean is that . you ceuld tnke somebody olsers share, is it 
not? A Ho, it was made ' in t hcj:; way that thosc..·prisonors VEho wore 
,n;t the st0.,rOS, to:;:', instance ,in the food story.s , so if wc had somc sort of 
. cormections with thcn wc could bart~r wi:~h then;: wo gc~ve them s~ething 
and they gave us something. < 

Q But you 'WOre "the knpo of' this party, v!'Ore you not? A Yes • 

Q 
./ 

Ana '''ne of the jobs that you accented as kapo was l oold:ng after. t"hc 'wor k 
of your party, W~tS it" not ? A Yes" 

Q Let me suggest to you that mmt you did was that' you and your own littl e 
party fed. all right at the expo:nsc 1)£' the rest -? A Why at. the, expense 
of others .? 

.Q- Did you not alloyr your 0W11 pnrty, . Bome of your own party, your own 
favouri tes, to take food which truy wero not- allowed to take? 
A If,y komlY'.ando was very goad in or gan:i.si .ng, nnd apart from that they took 
potn.to0s which were- in the cellar. . 

Re-e:;.a,-uni11ed by; MAJOR CRANFIE1:P.. 

Q When you took the letters out of the CDCi1p at Auschwit~ you knc,\,l you wGtfld 
'be punished if yau were 'found out, <lid you not? A I _hoped that I 
would nO.t be: caught cct it. . ' 

Q If you were caught 'you knew what· tIlt:> punishment vVDuld be ? A I 
that I would ne punished. 

Q Was it ono of thq qualifice:'tions of c. lcaP9 that she hau to ]lnderst.and 
t n sp0ak. Germ2Ll1 ? A No, we h[~d to huvo tw'1 interpreter for oither 
Russia.."1 ,or polish or nungar i[',n, boc8use I ;nyself I could not to.lk to 
people at- -ail. / 

Did not nIl the k\upos npeak Gennan ? A Yos . 

When you c::.rrived at Belsen with your 36 pregnant W01110;.1, who- t happened to 
thon ? A I cl::> not lC1(lwj they C:''w';1C to 2J10thor block, I believe . to· 
hospital~, but I do not know. 

Q When you were arrested in.June, worr;J thero ,:ny other Gen1D.ns 
then? A Almost none; .nearly E-NeryboUy'wns away, 'IfiaS gooe. 

THE· mm]:' ADVOCt1Tl!.i : When you were punis~od for smuggling 

Q 

a Kapo ? A yes . 

When you were· pWJ.ished .~rburr.d.Tl[( the bed boards r Vlere you a 
A Yen . 

And ',/, en you woro punished for a third time f'o r organising food und, 
cigarettes, were you still u kapo ? A yes. 
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Q You had·hs-d...quito a- nu..mbor of stripes , ben.tings, by that tb1o, had you net? 
A, yes.. 

Q Frem the point of vi GW~ of the GOr! 1.!.ll1 authorities you must havG boen a 
most unsatisfactory kapo, must you net ? A Yes. I have always done 
t'hat that vvn.s proRibi ted. 

Q And it was net until. D~cember, 1911-4, t hat Kramer took aWa:y your armlet j 
is that right? A Yes. It was net Kramer, it was Kraus, 1;lUt it was 
~n December. 

Q. Do you think Volkenrath know what an unsn.tis£aotory r~cord you had as·a kaRo 
at Ausch\'rl tz ? A I do. not know. 

Q .And you were T!lDd0 1\" kapo again in UO-rch, 1 945, by Volkenrath;' is thn. t 
rignt ? A Yes, 

A M:EMBER OF THE 
the cawp wt...s 

~ arrested? . 
hospital is, 

COURT: . Where ~xactly vrer@ you between the 12th April, • v/hon 
tcl>.on over by the British, ~nd the 22nd June, when you 'were 

A First I worked as 2. no/so i~ >c e CQ1:lp Belsen where the 
and In.ter on as [l nurse in Ber gen, which is very near to. Bclsen. 

Q The Qarracks in Bergen is vrhere the ether interneos were ? A Yes. 

THE PRESIDENT : HElve .you' anY questiens t o (',sk on what the Court hn.s put ? 

MA.JOR CWIl\JFIELD: No, 

(The accused leaves the place from which she has 
given her evidonco) , 

IvIAJOR CBANFIELD: I will now re&d tho affidavit of Rogina Bialek. 

THE PRESIDElff: Has that 'ono been put' in ? 

llJAJOR CRANFIELD: It is a different 0:.10 . 

THE ~fUDGE ADVOCATE: I have SI. record of two affid..'wits by Regi~1a Biaiek which 
are Exhibits "18" and "19 11 , Is this s till another one? 

MAJOR CRldoJFIELD: Y.e s, it is a third onc. 

(Fur ther n.ffidavit by HO,?;ina Bi['.lek is r,k'1.rkcd Exhibit tl127", 
signed by the' ¥esiCl.ont t~nd n.ttacJ1cd to the proceodings). 

W.tA.JDR CRAl\1FIELD: "Dcposi tion of Regin<.. Bialek (fomale) lde of 16 Squo.dowa, 
Lodz, pbland, svro~nbeforo CD:ptr.in Hom:.lCl. porcy Bontha..'U-Grocn, Royal 
.Artillery, Legal StD.ff, No. 1 War Cr:l.'Uos · Investigatien TOnJ'l, 

"I n..':l a polish Jewess, "~eec-Id 28, I was CU'res-ced ill Dcccrnber 1939 
in Wo..rS[:..Vf by the S. S. I rcmaineu. in the Police: Prison in WE'.rs['.V{ until the 
r.ri.ddle of Docembe:r.:', 1940, frO!a t hen; I was transferred to i". Conc(;ntration 

" Camp c.t Lublin, In Doc-eml;ler 1941 I left Lublin and wont to various crunps, 
arriving ill Doc8l!tbor, 1942, a t Auschwi tz, wJiore I rcma~.nod until No.vertlbpr~ 
1944. III November 19J~j., I crone -to Bolsen. 

lit 2) I knevv the accus0c.,IIse IJoth, i Bolsen, I met 
two T!lonths before the c.".\..'1lp was liborated. She was a Capo in charge ef the 
agricul tural vrorking pn.rty. I !:rlYs elf vas working in ki tch(m No. 1 in the 
IClcns CE'.!l1p. I saw Loth every day [.1d I never saw he!' boat El-YJYboc1y, Tbe 
other Capos uS<.:d to·tako food o.we:y fro!;l the internees for their ovm purposes., 
Loth newr did that - in fnct, she; often n.sked )tle to got her so~ncthing to 
eat us she hersolf was hungry. 
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tl(3) There is nothing morc I CD.n say L,bo~t h-er D.S I had no 
dcaling~ with hBr outside the kitchen, but judging by her behaviour, I 
find it h, rd to ,beliove that sho vrould have troD.ted the girls badly •. 

• 
. "Sworn hy t ho said D:lponont RogiJl2. Biclok E'. t Belsen this :12th 

clro.; of J!J.ly, 19L!-5, (Sgd) Rcgina Bialek". Too t is certified as to 
translation in the .us~al way. . 

Thb.t is n.1l the evidence I am calling on bOhalf of 1lse ,Lotl}e 
1- pro~oso to co.11 Hilde Lobauer~ 

Then \ve Will ~e it thattobauer 'Will be calleel first 
tom.orrow.'morning • 

.' 
s the Court adjourns until 0930 hours 
18th October, '1 945) o. 

/ 
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